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PREFACE

This thesis aims to provide the general reader and
student of history with a brief, clearly-written, well
organized introduction to the significance of the

events and changes which occurred in the activities of

the Underground Railroad in Iowa from 1885 to the dis-

appearance of need for its service. It makes no claim

to be a final and complete history of the period. The
writing of such a volume must remain the task of future
historians. The need of the present generation and of
future generations to obtain as clear an understanding as
possible of one of the little known romantic parts of our
history, is the justification for this work,

In addition to the mass of material collected by
Professor Sisbert from those who were connected with the
operation of the road or relatives or friends of workers
on the "line to freedom," many studies in Iowa history,
local, church, and political, have been drawn upon,
Grateful acknowledgement is due to Professor Siebert, both
for the effort he put forth in thirty years of collect-
ing material and for his kind and helpful suggestions in
preparation of this manuscript. To my mother also I

make acknowledgement for her efforts in helping to col-

lect material.

Cecil Turton.
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INTRODUCTION

At the present time, hundreds of our intelligent citi-

aens are ignorant of the significance of the terms "Under-
ground Railroasd." It is a strange thing, indeed, when sub-

jects of interesting and thrilling narrative are so much in
demand as at the present time that the history of the Under-
ground Railroad remains yet to be fully recorded. The inci-
dents connected therewith and the results ultimately accruing
from the operation of that secret and widespread system, so
closely interwoven with the vital interests of universal lib-
erty in the United States, surely furnish a rich field in
whizh to delve for fascinating materisl with which to enliven
the pages of history. 1In the annals of the Underground the
accounts of the suffering of ignorant slaves in quest of free-
dom, of their perilous Jjourneys by land and water, and of
their hairbreadth escapes, are not wanting to thrill the
heart and quicken the pulse of the student interested in

the great progressive movement of human liberty in the
past, these snnals forming one of the most striking chap-

ters in the nation's history.
At the time of which I write, embracing in Iowa about

elght years previous to the outbreak of the Civil War,
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a sad state of affairs prevailed with respect to the
questibn of human slavery in the South. It was said
by a celebrated writer of that time, that, "the pul-
pit is muzzled, it cannot speak: the press is fetter-
ed, it cannot move: the right arm of the law is men-
acled, it cannot stretech forth to maintain its own
authority and supremacy."

From most pulpits ecame no warning note of im-

pending national danger, or words of sympathy for
the flying fugitive. Many newspapers of the North
only referred to the anti-slavery gquestion and the
Underground Rallroad as unclean things, and branded

their advocates and adherents as fanatics, lunatics
and dangerous agitators. Notwithstanding this

disheartening condition of affairas, the managers of
the Underground Railroad, in the meantime, consclous of
the Justice and nobility of their aims and objects,
and never thinking of the obloquy and social ostracism

leveled at them by even those who should have been
their friends, continued to pursue the very uneven

tenor of their way: enduring abuse, vituperation and
shame, besides subjecting themselves to the liability

of having a heavy fine and imprisonment imposed upon
them by an unjust law, in order that the higher law

of love and mercy might be practiced and maintained,
and that their enslaved fellows might be enabled to

realize though in a distent country, that liberty



which they themselves enjoyed. The pages which follow
attempt to narrate the activities and adventures of

some of the persons who were connected with the road

in Iowa.



CHAPTER I
ANTI-SLAVERY ELEMENTS IN IOWA

By the Missourl Compromise Iowa was made & free state.

Bordered on the south by the slave state of Missouri and on

the east by the free state of Illinois, just across the Missis-
sippl River, Iowa received fugitive slaves in considerable

quantities at various points along her southern boundary from

Nebraska City at the western end to the Mlssissippil at the
eastern. These were supplied with "transportation" over var-

ious lines of the Underground Railroad passing northeast or

north from the upper edge of Missouri through countles in the

first tier of Iowa and in some instances through those of the
second and the third to reach the northernmest route of its
branches, which ran east from Audobon County to cross the Missis~
sippl in Clinton and Scott Counties. From the western part of
Cass County, in the third tiler, a parallel line ran through to
Muscatine County and theTe crossed the river, and another par-
ellel 1line from Mills County passed eastward through the next
three counties and through two-thirds of the fourth, where it
turned north to connect with the line above. Perhaps there was
a connecting branch east across Lucas and Monroe Counties as a
feeder to the network of routes in the southeastern part of the

state, which derived most of its "passengers" from the adjacent
border of Missouri and passed some of them aeross the "Father

of Waters" in Lee and Des Moines counties. Once aeross the Mis-

sissippli, these seekers for freedom had to travel by the slow and
tedious methods of the Underground system two hundred miles, more

or less, in an eastern or northeastern direction across Illinois



before reaching Chicago and neighboring ports on Lake Michigah
in order to be put aboard vessels for the region of Upper Canada
(ontario) east of the Detroit River, where the British flag
assured them safety from reclamation.

As the population of Iowa was made up of diverse elements,
including people from the southern Piedmont, New Englanders,
Ohioans, and settlers from other mid-Western states, not a

few of whom were Quakers of strong antimslavery principles,

one should know something of local conditions to understand
why some communitles were centers of Underground activity

and others not far removed in diestance were not. Of course
groups holding the same views on the slavery gquestion gener-

- ally settled together, and the Underground routes were deter-
minéd not by the topography of the land but by the location of
the anti-slavery communities. L. F. Parker, an inhabitant of
Grinnell in the heyday of its Underground activity on the "Jim
Lane route," tells us that Quakers and Oberlin College graduates
were the princippe) nameable groups concerned in the business,
although Methodist ministers were also usually aetivo.l Salem
is an example of an Underground center conducted by Quakers and
Tabor, of one where the leaders in the work were Oberlin men.2

The Sabins in their little book on The Makigngf Iowa state

that many Southerners were among the settlers of the state, not
all of whom had been slave owners but nevertheless considered
slavery the natural order of things. Hence there were "people

in Iowa who openly favored slavery" and Mothers who by their

1 & %2

Letter from Mr,., Parker, Aug. 30, 1896, letter from J. P.
Walton, Nov. 4, 1896, quoting J. B. Lee.



passiveness encouraged this sentiment." Some "either were
in favor of the Fugitive Slave La#, or did not frankly oppose
it, and disapproved of the abolitionists and the "nigger steal-

ers," as the more virulent called those persons who assisted
fugitive slaves to freedom. Such a community lived in Clinton,
where the audience that listened to an agent of the Massachu-
setts Anti-Slavery Socliety showed itself to be unsympathetic,
When the same agent went to Camanche, Clinton County, to speak
in the Baptist Church, although the arrangements had all been
made, the sexton refused to light up the echurch "for any black
Abolitionist." On going to the hotel this agent and a companion
were maltreated and only avoided a coat of tar and feathers by

hasty flight. Glenwood, which lies a few miles west of Silver
Creek, was strongly pro-slavery; and Hamburg, on the Missouri

line of Fremont County, was settled by Missourians. Hence no
runaway slaves were passed through there to Sidney, Thurman

and Tabor, in the same county. The antagonism between Tabor

and Hamburg was intense. A large section of Loulsa County, at
the eastern end of Iowa in the third tier'was strong in opposi-
tion to running off slaves, and only one. branch of the Under-
ground Railroad has been found passing through that county, name=-

ly, that extending from Crawfordsville through Columbus City
to Muscatine, where the Mississippi was crossed.>

Salem, which was an unusually active Underground center in

southeastern Iowa,as well as the most important Quaker community

SHenry and Edwin L. Sabin, The Making of Jowa, 244, 245-6;
versation with Herold Foétsr,—ﬁrn'%r;—xﬁ:’ao, iess? 85 oon



of that section, should pe gpoken of more at length. It was
first settled by Isaac Pidgeon and his family in 1835 when

the Pldgeons crossed the Mississippi to find a home. They loca-
ted on what is now Little Cedar Creek, in Salem Township, Henry
County. Belng a Quaker, Mr. Pidgeon wrote to others of his sect
of the richness of the soll and the other advantages of the re-
gion in which he had settled. Two years later others came, name-
ly, Peter Boyer, Thomas Cook, Reuben Henry, Thomas Frazier,
Abraham P. Joy, Gideon Stephen)and Aaron Street. The father of
the last named had emigrated from Salem, New Jersey, to Salem,
Ohio. Thence father and son had moved farther west and helped
to bulld up Salem, Indiana, and finally had removed to Salem,
Iowa.4 Othera of these Quakers had come to Iowa from North
¢arolina by way of Ohio and Indiana and therefore were aecquaint-
ed at first hand with the evils of slavery. The fundamental
doctrine of the Quakers was the "inner light" by which every man
could be informed of his duty and enabled to do 1t.° One duty
which the Salem people did not neglect was that of alding
runaway slaves. A meeting of the anti -slavery branch of the
Priends' Society was established at Salem by Thomas Frazier,

Ell Jessup)and others, but the original body of the Soclety
held that thelr duty as Christians would be fulfilled by enter-
ing a solemn protest against the detested institution and us-
ing every reasonable means to create sentiment against it. The

radical element on the other hand, while accepting the above

%Garretson, Travelling on the Underground Railroad, 421.

5Towa Journal of History and Politiecs, XXII, 424.




views, felt obliged to ald enslaved mortals to galn their free-
dom, and even sent emissarlies into Missourl to tell the slaves
of their readiness to assist them. This actlion so aroused the
fears of the slaveholders in the northeastern corner of Mis-
gourl that they posted patrols along the section of Des Moines
River extehding from the southern boundary of Iowa diagonally
to the Misslssippl River, to prevent their human chattels

from crossing to gain refuge in Salem. However, the plan

was not successfu%,and the Missourians became more incensed

6 When Elihu Frazier, of Salem, was

than ever at the Quakers.
in Missourl, presumably on a mission to the slaves, he was cap-
tured by patrollers and hanged to make him confess the nature
of his mission, but they gained no information and speedily
released him.

Some of the Iowa Quakers, like other operators of the
Underground system, resorted to sly methods to avoid detection
and keep their "passengers" out of the hands of man hunters.
One of these Quakers went to a flour mill for a load of bran,
with which he drove boldly along the highway while his sacks
concealed a number of fugitives. Another familliar method
was to hlde the negroes in a hollow load of hay, and still

another was to disgulse the Underground traveler ln the dress,

banneﬁ)and vell of a Quakeress. Nathan Eellum, of New Garden,

5%???%3%, Op. Gits, Iowa M Journal of History and Polities,
’ E d




gained the admiration of his fellows for his cleverness in
throwing watchers and slavehunters off the scent when he had
runaways about his premises.

It has been claimed that no fugitives who reached Salem
were ever returned to bondage. While this was doubtless true of
Salem, which had no less than five branches by which its refu-
gees could be spirited out of the town, two running north-
west, one northland two to the Mississippl, it was not true of
New Garden, a Quaker way-station between Salem and Denmarke.
There a fugitive was hidden in the barn of Nathan Bond until
he could be sent on to Denmark, but he was discovered and saized
by two> brothers named Berry’who returned him to his master for
a reward of $200. The Berry brothers were warned that "the

" and

Judgment of the Lord would surely be visited upon then,
to the satisfaoction of the prophets their crops dwindled and
falled. One might surmlise that thls result was probably due
to the shiftlessness of men who would engage in slavecatching.
One of the Underground operators at Salem was Joel C. Gar-
retson, who was not a Quaker but had been reared in the Soclety
and adhered to many of 1its precepts. While traveling over
Prince Mountain, in Virginia, he had seen a soffle of twenty
slaves handcuffed to a chain followed by a slavedriver on horse-
back, with a black-snake whip in his hand and pistols in the
holster of his saddle. This sight so impressed young Garretson
that he vowed there and then to strike at slavery whenever he

should have the opportunity. After settling in Iowa, in 1837,

he became a prominent speaker against the hated 1nst1tut1m5



aided Ell Jessup and others in organizing the Free Soil party
in Henry County, and was nominated, along with Samuel Howe,

for the legislature, stumping the county vigorously during the
campaign.7

Crawfordsville, which lies about thirty miles north of Salem
and was connected with it by an Underground road, was settled
by Presbyterians, who were known as "seceders" and "psalm sing;
ers."” In this village stood a hall known as the "House of all
Nations," in the basement of which thirteen fugltives were con-
cealed at one time.

Crawfordsville is credited with having been the birthplace
of the Republican party. In 1854 the Liberty and Free Soil
Parties and other bodles that opposed the extension of slavery,
began to unite. A state conventlon was summoned to meet there
in February of the year named, and assembled in the Seceders'
Church, which stood where the United Presbyterian Church stands
to-day. Among those who attended were the noted educator,

Samuel Howe, and his son Edward from Mt. Pleasant, Joel Garret-
son and El1 Jessup from Salem, and Dr. Curtis Shed from Denmark.
Edward Howe was the chairman of the committee on resolutions,
which retired to the "House of All Nations" to deliberate.

This house stood on the spot now occupled by the Second Na-
tional Bank.S

As the conventlon at Crawfordsville preceded that at Ripon,

7Iowa‘Jouggg1‘of History and Politics, XXII, 424.

8Tbid., XXIT, 435.



Wisconsin, where the Republican party 1s often saild to have
been formed, the Iowa town has the priority of claim.
Springdale and West Branch were also Quaker settlements
where fugltive slaves found shelter and transportation to
other Underground centres. Even in Pella, a settlement of
Hollanders from Utrecht founded in the 1840's in the north-
eastern part of Marion Gount!;aid wasa cautibusly glven to
runaways traveling from Oskaloosa northwestwardly to Franklin.
In January, 1848, the legislature had granted these Hollanders
the privilege of choosing thelr local officlals from among
themselves, and they had first exerclsed this privilege in the
following April. The ablest leader among the Pellaltes was
H. P. Scholte, who declared that the removal of slavery from
the American soll would be a blessing; but for the present
he could see nothing to be done except to remove some of the
evilas from exlsting conditions. In a serles of editorials

printed in his newwpaper, the Pella Gazette, Scholte discussed

the whole slave problem, starting early in June, 1855. About a
year later he sent to the United State Senate and House of
Representatives a number of proposals to be embodied in an

act for settling the difficulties in reference to the new ter-
ritories, the surrender of fugltive slaves, and other matters.
In these proposals he recommended that fugltives be delivered
up to thelr rightful claimants on presentation of an accurate
deseription and statement of the time of escape, that inter-

ference with recapture be punished as a felon%'byt that no one



be required to aid in slave catching, and that the refugee
should have counsel and a fair trial. He further advocated
that a state's sovereign power to exclude slavery should not
be interpreted to prevent citizens of glave states from cross-
ing its borders with their slaves unless the latter were being
taken to market, and ﬁe urged that any attempt to dissolve the
Union be made an act of treason.

During the aearly months of 1856 Scholte became dissatis-
fied with the Whigs on account of their general impobenece and
began to write in’favor of the Democrats. He feared that the
Repubiicans, comprising diverse elements, would adopt either
abolition or revolution. But a number of the Hollanders de-
gerted to the Republicans in the autumn eleetions of 1856, and
Scholte was attacked in verses of abolition spirit and by the
Burlington Hawk-Eye, the Fort Des Moines Citizen)and the

Keokuk Gate City. In August he had addressed the people of

Pella and vicinipy in both Dutch and English and was pleased
when Lake Pralrie Townshlp gave an overwhelming majority to
Buchanan. In the spring elections of 1858 Pella remained
Democratic, but Scholte was already becoming dlsgusted with
the policy in Kansas of the Buchanan Administration. In the
next year he left the Democrats and attended the Republican
State Gonvention on June 22, 1859, but he falled to change the
party affiliations of the Hollanders, although they were unal-
terably opposed to slavery. In the case of Pella therefore

we have the singular instance of a community voting the Demo-
cratic ticket by a large majority and among its people certainly
a few who were willing to take the risk of helpling fugltives
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because they antagonized the institution of bondage cherished
by the Southern Democracy.9

Gollege Springq)or Amity, in the southern part of Page
County, was established by a company formed at Galesburg,
Illinois, under the leadership of the Rev. B. F. Haskins,
William J. Wood, and others. This company sent a committee
into southwestern Iowa, which selected a large tract of
u;gered land in Page County in 1854 or 1855. The Rev. John
Todd tells us that almost all of the orthodox denominations
were represented in the company, which became active in re-
forms, including the anti-slavery movement.lo As College
Sorings was less than flve mlles from the Missourl boundary, it
did not take long for the slaves of the nelghborhood to learn

of the new settlement's interest in them and to take refuge

there on thelr way to Red Oak.

9Towa Journal of History and Politles, XXVI, 173. 177-8, 185,
187’ 191"2’ 196"7. ! -
10Rev. John Todd, Early Settlement and Growtn of Western Iowa,
or Reminiscences (1906), rp. 168.
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CHAPTER II
METHODS AND INCIDENTS ON THE UNDERGROUND RAILROAD.

As sentiment varied in every locallity, and especlally
between localities, the methods used varied with the nec-
easity for secrecy and thé nearness of pursult. In some
localiti es the people were so nearly unanimous in opposition
to slavery that little effort was made to hide the negro.

In other places‘the negro was forced to stay out of sight
for days until a different method could be devised. As

we shall sa#almost every method was employed in the course
of the yearé of aetivity in Iowa. From moving on foot to
being sent by traiq,the negro went slowly or rapidly on
the way to freedom. That the methods were succeasful 1s
seen from that fact that a very)very few were evew taken
back to human bondage.

In those early days people moved in covered wagons,
which provided a very good method of transportation. As
it was sometimes a considerable distance to the mill, the
bondman was often moved along at the same time as the
operator needed flour. At other times this proved only a
disguise. The slaves were loaded into the wagen and hay
placed over them. In this way many were moved in daylight
"~ when not closely pressed. At other times the fleeing negro was
moved under cover of night and with gre=t secrecy, sometimes only

one or two of the famlly knowing of the ‘matter.l

)

lletter from Mr. Elliott, Gedarville, Ia., Nov. 18, 1895.
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About two years before the war a large family of slaves
belonging to a man by the name of McQuittg,at Lancaster,
Missouri, were booked for freedom. Arrangements were made
by friends in Missourl to meet this entire family of slaves
consisting of father, mother, and several children, near the
Missourl line. The nlght arrived and George Elliott and Al-
bert Corner were entrusted with the adventure. They drove
from Drakesville to the meetingplace designated, and found
all was well except one of the children was sick and had been
taken to the master's house for care. But a great crisis
was on, 80 the little one was left, and the rest were on hand.
All were loaded in Elliott's wagon and, before sunrisg were
across the Des Molnes river, a distance of forty miles.

As soon as they were misseqpa.party started to track
them and had very little trouble in finding that they had
come to Drakesville. The pursuers thought they had found the
slaveq,and the Elliott barns, fields, and house were searched
and guarded for days. The l1dea was held that the slaves were
in Drakesville until they were Canada.2

When correspondence was necessary, 1t was usually carried
on in a plain note with a hidden meaning for the man who
understood. A few 1llustratlons are extant. The following.

is typical:

QIbid., In a short time a letter, printed in pen came to the Elliotts,
telling them of the escape and expressing thanks to God.
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‘"Mr. C. B. C.
Dear 8ir:--By to-morrow evening mall, you

will receive two volumes of the "irrepressible

conflict" bound in b%%ck. After perusal, please

forward, and oblige.

By the peculiar wording of the correspondence, the
recelver, of the same obtained a pretty falir 1dea not only
of the number of fugitives coming on the line, but also fre-
quently, the age, sex and complexion of the same.

It 1s sald that some of the hunted race who passed
through Iowa were so white as to require but little or no
gecrecy or concealment. Thesé were easlly cared for and sent
on their journey. In one instance a man and his wife were
being secreted in the garret of the Bather's house, in Clinton,
when word came that the slavehunters were in hot pursuit. The
garret being a place much suspected by the United States mar-
shal, it was thought advisable to have a "flitting" as soon as
posgible. Mr. Bather soon secured the loan of a covered, famlly
carriage;, belonging to a Mr. Stanly and conveyed the negroes
to Lyons, preceded by Mr. Campbell, who hired a skiff and took
them across the river. Thls was on a Sunday afternoon. The
women had such a falr complexlon that she could and did, with

perfect impunity, represent hergelf as a free person and the

ower of her own husband.

3Higtory of GCedar and Olinton Counties.

thid., A kind of cellar in the garden belonging to J. R. and
‘A. Bather was used as a hidilng place.




14

Just before the War broke out, a party of nine negores,

a man and his wife and their four children tbgether with three
other men, passed through Clinton. Twlce before had the hus-
band attémpted to free his wife but had been unsuccessful.

His third attempt was successful andjjudg ng from his looks
and the fact that he was well armed, officlals of the Under-
ground Railroad consliddred 1t would have been dangerous for
anyone to try to stop the party. They wers ferried over the
Mississippi and reached Ganada.5

On one occaslon three negroes from Clarksburg, Virginia,
passed through Iowa. They had worked to get money to go to a
show, but the master refused his permiséion. They escaped and
went west. Once they were surrounded by nine men, but on a
hillside they engaged in a plitched battle with rocks, escaped)
snd by an Iowa line moved on to freedom.

The home of William Maxon, 6f Springdale, was used to
hide fugitives. He ﬁad a cellar, a portion of which was very
dark. In order that the slaves might be comfortable Mr. Maxon
had a fire-place built in the bgsement. Here, sometimes for
days, small bands of black men were kept untll conditlons per-

mitted thelr moving in safety.7

51bid.
6Letter of Arthur Corner, Jan. 1, 1896.

"trving B. Richman, John Brown Amohg the Quakers and Other
Sketches, p. 32.
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One Sunday morning a negro woman came to the home of Mr. Fox,
in Denmark. The revort was soon spread that a number of "hunters"
were watching to catch her. Contacts were made with Mr. Browm,
who hitched up his buggy nss if to take his wife to church, dressed
the negro woman in his wife's clothes, got in the buggy =nd drove
through the crowd and on to the next station,s This was a com-
mon method émong the Quakers. As they would not ligithey had to-
be clever.enough to get the negro safely along the line without
questioning. Thus the dress of the Quﬁker women was o very help-
ful disguise.

On one occaslon » man came to the Cotnepliome,in Jasper County.
Thinking to take a shorter route, he left Pella to the south and
took a trall to save six or eight miles. The negro and Cofne¥ took
turns riding snd walking. It was a dark night and the two lost their
way and had to pay an o0ld Hollander to put them on the road to Pella.
The short cut had lost them some two hours, and daylight caught them
ten miles short of thelr Quaker destination in Oskalossa. The negro
was hidden in a cornfield until the farmer came to feed. Then
Cotnep/ called the latter to the gate and asked him if he had seen any
stray "niggers". The farmer looked at Co¥nepd/and sald he was afraid
this was bad business. When told that the law gave him the right
to capture,negroes, the old farmer quoted the golden rule. CoTheW
then proceeded to tell him of the negro in the field. Both were

fed and the negro was sent safely on his'uay.g

8Letter of H. B. Armstrong, Dec. 12, 1895.
9Letter from W. E. Co™ed, undated.
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So it was that often the negro was forced to hide in fields by

day and move on at night. Whlle those golng over the Iowa routes
were in most cases well cared for, some often went hungry and cold
for several days. ,

In the fall of 1865 seven negroes came to the home of W. Mer-
ritt, in Red Oak, escorted by a congregational minister from Amity.
A young negro of the party fled from Kentucky to Canada. He had
returned and plucked his sistegﬂslavery, and now on his second
trip he had with him his mother and other brothers and slisters.
They were well provided for and sent on thelr way. Soon a group
of horsemen appeared, with revolverq)ready for action. They sepa-
rated and rode up and down looking at every bush and into the
timber. The whites helped in the searchuleading them on wild
chages until the negroes were thirty miles on their way "toward
the North Star."lo

A colored man from Missourl came to the home of Dr. Van
Pelt, in Muscatine. He was kept in the cornfield for six weeks '
and food carried to him by a free negro. The master was soon on
the track and traced the negro to Van Pelt's. He asked Mrs. Van
Pelt if she had seen such a negro, to which she replied that if
she had she would}not tell him. The man posted a $1500-reward
notice on the gate and moved on. In time the slave was taken by
night to Rock Island, where he was put on the train and safely
landed in Ganada.ll The transportation by traln was not a com-

mon method in Iowa. Tralns were expensive and closely watched,

10retter of W. Merritt, Dec. 22, 1895.
1lretter of J. A. Jelly, April 8, 1896.
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but at times this meth@d was used. It seems that the keepers in
Weat Liberty used steaﬁ transportation more often than any other,
but this is thought to be not the general rule.l2
' The following ep1$ode occurred at Grinell in 1860:

Four "boys,' ages 18 to 26, had been 1n the school learning to
read. Some of the pro&slavery people tried to exclude negroes but
were voted down. The next day two ‘men appeared at the school to
take the negroes. !hp:"boyé“ talked of using their guns, but
bloodshed was avertéd.j An old sea-captain, unfriendly to all
slaves, published a description of the slaves in a St. Louls paper.
The boys and a colored girl then disappeared. These negroes had
stayed in houses, barns and cella.rs.l3

One morning a little after dawn there came to the home of
Seth B. Stanton, then 11v1ng in southern Iowa near the Missouri
line, a slave family, a man, wilfe and three children, begging to
be takeﬁ in as their-masterl with an officer) was in hot pursuit.
Mr. and Mr. Stanton rushed the negroes to the garret and hid them
in a dark corner. Just at that time there was a haloo at the
front gate. There the‘master and sheriff wanted to know if any
"ﬁiggers" had been seen that morning. None had, of course. Then
Stanton 1nvited the meﬁ in for breakfast. As there was anbther
road a half-mile east,;t was suggested that they had probably

taken that road. With an ocath the master was on his way. The

12Lett_er of J. P. Walton, undated.

LLetter of L. F. Parker's revly to Circular, 8.
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x
going to Tabor to-morrow? I have a passenger for you, can you

take him? He 1s a young mulatto who says he left his master as an
antl-slave holder, as he wasvthe'last to escave." It was the volce
of the station agent, Dr. Ira Blanchard, and arrangements for the
transfer wegesoon made. Platt was a manufacturer of shingles and
was going to Tabor the next day. Mrs. Platt was to drive one wagon.
Two were loaded, one recelving 1ts full capaclity while the other
had shingles on one slde and a comfortable bed of straw on the
other, all being covered with a wagon sheet. Very quietly the re-
mainder of the load was taken in half a mile away at that "myster-
ious station-door where so many colored people, 1t was sald, had

" been seen to enter but never reappear thoug?# éarefully watched
for." So certain of underground passages were the pursuers that at
one time in their sear¢h they demanded the removal of a cupboard
which sat against the brick wall of Dr. Blanchard's home. Not
finding the supposed secret passage behind the cupboard, they
sounded the rest of the walls.

After gaining the unsettled territor§2r}iatt suggested that
the negro sit up a while. He could turn as thdugh conversing and
thus keep watch of the road in both directions. 8Soon a man mounted
on a mule galloped'up behind the wagons. The rider eyed them
closely. He then rode on and was next seen in Plum Hollow. This
was a pro-slavery settlementyand.no mention was made of negroes.
Mr. Platt stopped in the store while Mrs. Platt drove on. Soon
the rider reappeared. He seemed always to keep at a distance but
eyed her wagon with susplcion. Taking the loaded blacksnake whip,

Mrs. Platt prepared to defend herself. The man soon rode on.
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Reaching Tabor, the slave was taken to the loft of one Smith's
barn, where he was cared for and passed on toward Canada. The
rider proved to be a friend to the cause but secretly so and had
merely ridden out to test the skill of the Platts.L.®

A certain Mr. Nuckolls brought two slave girls to Nebraska
City as house servants in the early winter of 1856. They were
soon missing and Mr. Nuckolls was very angry. He proceeded to
raise a mob of thirty or forty men, mounted and armed with guns
and clubs, and started for Iowa to clean out the suspected aboli-
tionists. They arrived at the William's home and dealt severely
with Mr. Williams. Word was at once sent to Tabor friends, who came
down that nighp,and the next day arrested Nuckeolls. He was tried
before a justice of the peace and bound over to the court. The
repisode cost Nuckolls {2?,000 but he never found the girls.l He
followed them across the state and at one time slept in the same
house with them. They safely reached Canada.l7

Sometimes the distance between stations w_as longer than could

be made in a single night. This was true of the trip from Tabor to
Lewis, Iowa, a distance of more than fifty miles. The vehicle was
often a covered wagon with an "emigrant air". That there were secret
signs between some of the operators seems certain, yet thlis does not

seem a definite part of the system as many of the operators report

there was no speclal sign or means of communication.

16Letter of Mrs. E. G. Platt, answer to circular.

17 etter of Sturgis Williams, 1894.

18 ctter of E. S. H111l, Oct. 30, 1894.
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Two fugitives from slavery were arrested and lodged in the
Lindon jall for safekeeping. It was a bltter cold day and they
begged for a pan of live coals to keep them from freezing. When the
place was warm other use for the coals was found. The slaves managed
to burn a hole through the floor large enough to enable them to es-
cape; On the way up the Missourl Rlver a blinding blizzard overtook
them and they became separated, nearly perishing in the cold. One
of them found his way to Tabor and stayed at George B. Gaston's house
several weeks, walting for his companion. The mwegro asked for work
and was put at cutting wood. For weeks he went every day to the
woods. After some time the lost companion came along and the two
proceeded on to freedom.

The calm of the Quaker community of Salem was broken by the
attempted recovery of nine slaves belonging to Ruel Daggs from
Clark County, Missouri. In the early part of June, 1848, this
band of fugltives headed for Salem and managed to evade Missouri
patrols until about a mile from town. Whlle hlding in the bushes, they
were soon dlsoovered by two slaveChunters. Without losing any time,
the two started for Missouri. They were soon met by Elihu Frazier,
T. Clarkson Frazler, and W. Johnson, three Stalwart Quakers from Salem.
The three demanded that they return to Salembwhere the claim could
be presented before a jJustlice of the peace. +This was not to the
1liking of the slavq:hnnterq)but the three persisted, one saying he
would "wade in ilssourl blood before the negroes should be taken".

So the two agreed to trust to the "due process of the law" for their

claims.

19Rev. Jom Todd, “rugitives from the indlan Territory.“
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Excitement was high in Salem. Every person joined the pro-
cession to Justice Lewslling's home. The case was dismlssed after
the hearing because the plaintiffs were unable to produce warrants
for the arrest of the captives. For a moment everyone was still,
knowing not what to do. Then Paul Way called out: "If anybody
wants to follow me, let him follow." Two of the negroes took the
opportunity. They were soon on thelr way to freedom. The other
negroes were received by friends, while the man_hunters, McClure and
Slaughter, left in great danger, promlising to return for vengeance.

Some days later a well-armed band of Missourians visited
Salem. They besieged the town and sent searching parties to every
"nigger-stealing house." The Frazier home was singled out for a
detalled investigation. It was %Hrue that three negroes had been
in his carq,but the Underground had again afforded its service in
anticlipation of the coming of the mob and had takén them to the
timber. The Frazlers sat quletly dining when the Missourians ar-
rived. With curse and threat, they demanded a search and were told
to make it. It was frultless. Other homes were visited, with like
results.20

One'station-keeper had hils basement fitted up, the only en-
trance to it belng a trap-door in the kitchen, kept covered by a
rug and the dining table. Through this trap-door many a black was
hurried to hiding from pursuers. Most of the blacks were armed with
weapons from cleavers to guns. Pursuers came often to this home in

Salem, but none, 1f they discovered the trap-door, ever ventured down

20Van Ek, The Underground Railroad in Iowa, pp. 1l41-142.

(for record of trial, see appendix).
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the dark stairs.<t

A story is told of William Maxon, an operator near Springdale.
He conceived the idea of helping some of the fugltives to Canada by
putting them in sacks and shipping them as potatoes. The atation-
agent, supposed to be in opposition to the Underground Railroad, was
present when the "potatoes" were loaded on the steam cars. In the
loading a sneeze issued from one of the sacks, much to the conster-
nation qf Mr. Maxon, but the statlion-agent took no notice of 1t)and
the "potatoes" were duly ahipped.22

On one occasion Mr. Tatum started with a load of negroes in a
wagon for Mechanicsville. To reach that town it was necessary to
cross the Cedar River at Gray's Ford, where beds of quicksand must
be avoided. Unfortunately the load stuck, and Mr. Tatum resorted to
the nearest house, a stranger's, and secured help. The stranger sug-
gested that 1t would be necessary to ﬁnload before the wagon coula
be released. My. Tatum, fearing the eonsequence if the kind of load
he had should be discovered, replied that he did not think so. When
asked what he had in the wagon, he looked the stranger squarely in
the eye and®sald "meat and wool'. A fence rall was secured and, after
much effort, the wagon was raised fo firmer ground and the 'meat and
wool' moved on/to safety.23

One gulet Sunday afternoon there came a tap on the door of the
Varney home, two miles weat of Springdale. A negro woman and two

children, one white and one black, were admitted. All were in great

1ltne Palimpsest, Vol. 9 (1928); p. 245.

12R1chman, John Brown among the Quakers and Other Bketches, p. 23.

23The Palimpsest, Vol. 9 (1928), pp. 246-247.
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distress and fear. The mother was taking her two sons from the
mastéf and father, who was not far behind, beating the bushes,
thinking the slaves might be hidden there. The nesro mother, seem-
ingly more intelligent than most, sald that she feared detection
because the white boy made them so consptélous. Mra. Varney made
gome very strong tea and stained all the visible parts of the white
boy with the solution, turning him a walnut brown. After a good
lunch the three went on theilr way. About three months later a letter
came to Mrs. Varney telling of their safe arrival in Ca.na.da..24

Two slave:sisters had arrived at A. W. Lewis's, at Summit
Grove. The following Monday one of the glirls came running in from
the yard yelling that her master was coming. Martin Cook, at whose
home the girls were staylng, took his cane and went out into the
yard where he sat calmly awalting the approaching riders. One of
the men asked him 1f he had seen any slaves. He replied that slaves
were not known in Iowa. The master sald that he had been informed
the o0ld Quaker kept blacks who were running away to Canada. The old
man informed him that he never turned anyone who wanted lodging away,
but never kept slaves. The master then sald he would search the
place. A spirited argument followed over the lack of#search warrant.
Finally, Mr§ Cook appeared and permitted the search. After satisfying
himself, the master apologized and went hils way. When the girl had
rushed in and saild "the master is coming" Grandmother Cook had snatched
off a large featherbed, and hid t?g girls under 1t and remade it.

' 2

Hence they were not to be found.

2%rhe Palimpsest, Vol. 9 (1928).
25

Letter of A. B. Cook, Earlham, Iowa, Aug. 21, 1934.
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Many homes had secret hiding-places. Mr. Hoag, an ardent
worker for iiberty, when he bullt his house, put in a secret clo-
set beneath the stalirway that led to the second floor. The stair-
way began about the middle of the north wall of the living-room
and went west, rising to about two-thirds of the height of the
room, where there was a landing. It then turned south at right
angles. Beneath the landing of the stalrway was a cupboard facing
the south, at the back of which was a considerable space with no
apparent entrance. On the landing of the stalrway was a neatly
fitted trap-door opening into the rear space. There Mr. Hoag kept
many negroes.26

In the house of James J. Gaston, in Tabor, which still stands,
were two cle#erly devised small hiding-places, each large enaigh

for two standing fugltives. These hlding-places flanked the large
fireplace at one end of the sitting-room. The entrance to them
was through a sliding panel in the hall, at the back of the fire-
place. The panel was partly concealed by a coatrack. Slavea were
often in hiding in those secret closets while the house was being
searched, but were never discovered.27

An amusing incldent 1s related concerning 0. W. Basworth,
of Denmark. His father kept slaves hidden in the barn and the
chilld did not know it. One day while playing there, one of the
secreted slaves happened to look down at the boy. After seeing
the black man, the boy went to the house and t0ld his parents that
the black colt was up in the loft. Once when Henry Morgan was
conveying a load of fugitlives from Clay to Washlington in a covered

wagon, and was about to drive on the ferry-boat to cross Skunk

26Garretson, 6p. cit., p. 429.

27COmmunicated by Harold V. Foster, April 24, 1935,
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River, some slave owners rode up to look in the wagon, but wheeled

and left in haste when Mr. Morgan yelled, "We've got small pox in

there. "2 |
Now and then the Iowa Underground Rallroad had a mishap.

About the year 1860, as three negroes, John Williams, Henry Gar-

ner and his sister Maria were journeying from Percival to Omaha,

a carriage with ti:o or three men came up behind, the men.Jumped

out, and one of them with a atick or club struck Henry on the cheek,

not only stunning him but breaking his cheek-bone. All three were

taken and hurried into Missouri. However, Willliamsem managed to

escape in a short time, but Henry and Maria were lodged in a slave

pen in 8t. Louiq,waiting the day of the sale. News soon reached

Dr. Blanchard at Civil Bend. He dropped all else and, with Mr.

Gaston, of Tabor, Iowa, spent several days searching for the negroes

in northwestern Missouri. Learning that the slaves were in 8t. Louis,

Dr. Blanchard started for that place while Mr. Gaston returned to

Tabor. He found them in the prison. When the keeper admitted Dr.

Blanchard to their quarters, Maria ran and threw her arms around

him exclaiming, "Oh! Dr. Blanchard, where did you come from?" After

proper legal steps the negroes were set free)while the kidnappers

were taken by officers to Council Bluffs to await trial. They soon

broke jalill and esoaped.29

.

28 . T

297, Todd--"Fugitives from the Indian Territory"--Ch. XXII.,
8. C. Hurd, one of the kidnappers, went to Kansas and two
years later was hanged for horse-stealing.
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Many more incidents might be related of flight to freedom
on the Underground Rallroad. But enough have been told to 1llus-
trate the methods used in passing the slaves along, and to show
something of the adroltness and courage of the abolitionists en-
gaged in the work and of the yearning for freedom of the "passengers"
who traveled the length of Iowa from station to station, generally

at night and at great risk, to secure freedom in Canada.
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CHAPTER IIIX
ROUTES OF THE UNDERGROUND RAILROAD
IN KANSAS AND NEBRASKA

In as much as the tUnderground system of Iowa drew many of
its passengers from Missourl by way of routes through the east-
ern counties of Kansas and Nebraska, it Is necessary to tell of
these routes.

It 18 a curious fact that the Underground Rallroad was defi-
nitely mentioned in a Kansas newspaper as a threat to Missouri
slaveholders in case they agaln participated in another Kansas
election after that of November 30, 1854. On the following day
the writer of the article warnmed them that another attempt to
elect pro-slavery men to office might result in the carrying off
of thelr slaves by the Underground, and that if it did they
could blame no one but themselvas.l Evidently the writer as-
sumed that the Missourians were already familiar with the work
of the Underground, as they certainly were along the Illinois
border. Of course, the Underground did not originate in Kansas
from the free-state men's desire for political revenge, but
rather, as 1n the case of all the other Northern states, from
the hatred of slavery and the willingness of many persons to
help enslaved negroes to gain thelr freedom by flight.

The so-called southern division of the Underground Rail-
road in Kansas started at Barnesville and Mound City. Some
of the slaves rsaching Barnesville were sent north to Trading

Post, then norhhgast to Osawatomie, where from 1855 Elbridge

lppanisacticns, Kansas State Hist. Soc., X, 129.
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G. Blount was an operator. He 1s sald to have stood guard through
many a long night over some humble cablin where fugitives were
concealed. Near Osawatomle three slavehunters learned of the
hiding-place of the runaway Washington and confided their mlssion
to a Hiséouri friend living there. The Underground men of the
neighborhood also heard of it and accompanied Washington to the
Missourian's house when the master and his fellews were there.
They forced the master to exchange hls garments with his slave
and give him $300 from his pocketbook. A silk hat was taken from
one of the slavehunters for the fugitive, who was then sent out
to the barn for a horse, saddle and bridle. Thus fitted out,
Washington started agaln on hls way to freedom.2

From Osawatomle the route extended northwest to Lawrence,
which was a very actlve centre, with Jom E. Stewart and Dr. John
Doy as the principal traffic managers. These men were helped by

3 In a letter of

numerous asslstants and contributors of money.
April 4, 1859, to Frank B. Sanborn, of Concord, Massachusetts,

J. Bowles writes that from the first settiement of Kansas

Lawrence had been cursed by slaveholders as an abolitlon town

and had thus attained great notoriéty among the negroes of Missourl.
Some of the "emigrating" blacks had told him that they would have
never knom of a land of freedom, or that they had a friend in the
world, had it not been for their masters' continual abuse of the

Lawrence abollitionists. One o0ld negro sald that hls master had

[ . s R
2gorlections, Kan. State Hist. S0c., XV, 565.
Sgntdago ‘Fimes-Herald, Sept. 24, 1896.
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declared the people of that town to be all devils, which satis-

fl ed him that if he could get there his master would be afraild to
come after him. A few slaves had‘been taken back to Missourl after
leaving Lawrence for Iowa, but many in their escape had brought
othera with them. One who had been twice captured and shot each
time, killing one of hle captors, claimed to have alded at least
twenty-five of his fellows to get away, besides glving informatim
that would cause a hundred more to flee.

Bowles knew personally that during the past four years nearly
three hundred fugltives had passed throughlLawrence and recelved
substantial aid from the abolitionists there. He had himself
helped to collect the money and heard complaints from many zeal-
ous men that the ever increasing drain so interfered with their
business that they must be relieved from a part of the burden.
Such was the situation at Christmas, 1858, when twenty-four more
fugitives arrived, five or six of whom had means enough to be
sent on. The others had to be kept until $150 could be raised
to forward them.

Of the numerous persons from whom the money was collected,
one had betrayed the fact that Dr. John Doy and his son es-
corted the party of fugltives, and they were captured. After
théy should be balled out of prison, the traitor would be dealt
with. Many zealous anti-slavery men were discouraged by the
capture and by the hard times. The Doy trial would cost nearly
$300, which would be principally met by the local soclety.

Bowles asked Mr. Sanborn to plead the cause of the Kansas
abolitionists with those Eastern friends who were inclined to

censure them. Eight or ten fugltives could not be sent on
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until more money was avallable. Some Easterners were delaying
their contributions to ald John Brown, but his plan was to take
enough portable property from slaveholders, aleng with their
aléﬁea, to pay the latter's way to Uanada. Henge there need
be no fear of a large deﬁand from that guarter.

The constant resort of fuglitives to Lawrence induced
twenty~-two pro-slavery men known as the Bhannon Guards to cémp
in a ravine at the edge of the Sauk and: :Fox Indlan Reservation,
and near the Underground Rallroad entering the town, in order
to capture fugltives. This band did not survive long, for in
the autumn of 1856 Charles W. Leonhardt marched at midnight
from Lawrence with thirty free-state men to the camp, and ex-
terminated thé Shannon Guards.

One of the stations in Lawrence was the log cabin of Josg-
eph Gardner, who took a claim in March, 1857, adjoining the .
land that became the campus of the State University of Kansas.
Among the fugitives harbored by the'Gardnera was Napoleon
Simpson, who first came on his way north in the autumm of 1859.
In the following May he returned, and accompanied by a neigh-
bor, in a covered wagon drove into Missourl to bring his wife
out of bondage. In as much as they found her too sicK to
travel, they went back to walt a fortnight before making an-
other attempt. Hence when slavehunters visited the Gardner
place, early in June, 1860, Naﬁoleon wag there, along with

4
another fugitive.

L
@ollections, Kan. State Hist. Soc., VI, 350.
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By that time the border was so quiet that Mr. Gardner ﬁhamght
it safe to employ the two.runéways at quarrying stone to fence
his claim. They were from Jackson County, Missouri, and had been
seen by pro-slavery nelghbors,who had passed the word along to
others of their kind.

At half-past arp o'clock on the morning of June 9, 1860,
the two dogs of the Gardners aroused the household, and Mr.
Gardner saw two men pass a window. He snatched his revolver
and sprang to the door jJjust as the men:demanded that he open 1t.
He did so, found them with cocked weapons in their hands, shot
one of them,and closed 1t. Meantlime his son Theodore had shot
several times at figures moving in the yard from an upstairs
window, and called his father up to join in the attack. Just
as Mr. Gardner reache& the first flobr, he was almost hit by a
load of buskshot. Napoleon then went out and fired from the
front step. While reloading, he was riddled by a charge of
buckshot fired by a man hiding behind the well.>

The capture of Dr. Doy and the party of fugitives he was
sonducting northward from Lawrence has been referred to above.
He had joined a company of emigrants at Rochester, New York, in
1854, and settled ia Lawrence. In the winter of 1858 a consid-
erable group of fugitives had arrived in the town, and Dr. Doy
was chosen to guide them up to Holton in two dovered wagons,
after provisions and blankets had been bought for them. He
started with his "caravan" on the morning of January 25, 1859.

A e¢itizen who had contributed a dollar informed Jake Hurd and

his gang of rufflans of the departure, and they captured the

S80llections, Kan. State Hist. Sosc., XV, 550-552.
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party twelve miles north of Lawrence. At St. Joseph, Missouri,
Doy was surrendered to the authoritles on the charge of abduct-
ing the slaves. A trial and contictlion followed, Doy being sen-
tenced to five years in the penitentliary. He appealed to the
Misaourl supreme court, and was confined in the jall at St. Joseph
pending its decision.
| This affalr aroused the free-state men of Kansas, especlally
1n_Lawrsnoe, where a committee of ten men was appointed to re-
lease the prisoner. The members of this committee were: James B.
Abbott, Charles Doy (the son of Dr. Doy), Joseph Gardner, George
Hay, Joshua A. Pike, Jacob Senix, Thomas Simmons, John E. Stewart,
Silas Soule, and 9. M. Willis. They chose Major Adams as their
leader and dpove in a covered wagon to Elwood, a small village
opposite St. Joseph, where they left their wagon and crossed the
ferry. They entered St. Joseph in varioué rslee and acqualilnted
themselves with "the lay of the land." ‘At the town pump in front
of the jall Gardner took off his shoee;‘sat astride the horse
trough)and bathed his feet while signaling to Dr. Doy, who
stood at a grated window only a few yards distant.
Late one evening a young man, with a valise and in an evident

hurry to cateh a train, called at the jail, and got permission
to speak with the prisoner. When the jailor's attention was attract-
ed elsewhere, the young»man passed a note to Doy telling him to pe
ready at midnight. At one 0'clock the jallor was aroused by a b
pounding on the outside door and asked to lodge a horse thief.
After the'posse’ had entered, two of them menaced him with a big
knife and a revolver, ordered him to stay in for half an hour

if he valued his 1life, and the"posse"left in a dompour of rain

~



with Dr. Doy for the river. They crossed back to Elwood in
hired boats and drove away for Lawrence. A few days later the
betrayer of the party of fugitives and its leader was calledl
before a meeting of citizens, which banished him from the town,
and 8. J. Willis escorted him beyond its 11m1ta.6

One branch of the Underground ran north to Oskaloosa, thence
northwest to Holton, northeast to Horton, northwest again to
Albany (Sabetha), northeast a few miles to Plymouth, across the
Nebraska bouhdary to Falls City, then north to Nemaha City,
aloné the Missouri River to Peru, and on up to Nebraska City.
There a ferry conveyed the fuglitives into Iowa. The other
branch out of Lawrence extended a little north and west to Topeksa,
whence there was a direct connection with Holton and the other
towns along this route. It has been asserted that there was no
Underground traffic between Lawrence and Topeka because Lecomp-
ton, a pro-slavery community, lay mid-way between them. Doubtless
that faet reduced the traffic over the branch mentioned, but it
did not stop 1it.

We must now go back to Mound City, Kansas, from which an
Underground line ran northwest to Topeka, with intermediate
stations, no doubt. The managers of this division were Col.
James Montgomery, Col. C. R. Jennisoq,and 0ld John Brown.

In the summer of 1854 Mintgomery had bought up a claim to
some land lying five miles west of Mound City. He had come
originally from Ashtabula County, Ohio, and was soon recognized

5

6g0110ctions, Kan. State Hist. Soc., XVI, 56, XVII, 851-855.
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as a leader by the free-state men of Linn County. In 1857 he
organized a Self-protective Association and ordered the pro-
slavery men to leave, which they did. He also beeame ah ener-
getic Underground operator, as revealed in letters written to
George L. Stearns, of Boston, late in the year 1860. In a letter
of October 6 he saild: "We have several fugitives on hand, and more
are expected. 8Some of them are from Missouri and some from
Arkansas. When a keen, shrewd fellow ecomes to us, we send him
back for more. As yet they have not been followed by anything
like a force.* On November 20 he wrote that “the boys" had |
made a drive against some kidnapers in the northern paft of

Linn County, and he might have added that they had hanged one of
them by the name of Russell Hinds after a trial by a vigilance
committee. By that time more fugltives had arrived, whom Mont-
gomery considered as safe in Mound City and vicinity as 1f they
were in Canada. He and his friends held that if any state wighed
to keep slaves it must keep them at home. If it allowed them

to come there they must be free.

Just then one Harney and a force of troops were trying to
put dowmn Montgomery and his assoclates and récover runaways from
them, but he wrote on December 12 that the United States govern-
ment could not enforce the Fugltive Slave Law out there. He re-
ported Major Whitsett as having declared that the troops had
been brought out because there was "a nigger in the woodpile."
Montgomery admitted that there was, but insisted that "Uncle
Sam" eould not get him. Nothing short of stationing a regiment

in every county in Kansas would prevent the anti-slavery people
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from keeping him, and when the regiments had been placed they
would pass the negro on somewhere else. Late in July, 1861,
Montgomery was commissioned colonel of the Third Regiment of
Kansas Volunteers under Brigadler General James H. Lane.
The‘activities of the Underground workers in Topeka, 8o
far as they have been recorded, were during the later 1850's
and on to the Civil War. John E. Rastall thinks that the fugi-
tive he helped to run from Topeka up to Nebraska City and
thence eastward about two-thirds the length of Iowa, in Septem-
ber, 1856, was the first one conducted out of Kansas. Hls trip
terminated at Oskaloosa, where the slave was delivered to a
Gongregationél minister. While Mr. Rastall's claim of priority
is hardly tenable, hlis journey was probably the longest out of
Kansas made by any Underground conductor, except those of John
Brown when he took slaves through.8
Like other anti-slavery communities in eastern Kaneas)
Topeka was sublected to hunts for slaves. In November, 1857,
Deputj United States Marshal Butcher conducted one there and
at Mid-December another. This time he led a file of asoldiers
to the home of John Ritchle at the edge of town, broke upen the
doog,and would have entered but for the click of weapons within.
He was only able to make the search by sending for additional
men. He was looking for the slaves of one Mills, but falled to
find them. At the Garvey House he met with no better results.

His brutal methods were denounced by the Topeka Tribune.9

Tgollections, Kan. State Hist.,Sec., XIII, 258-260, 263-265.

8Proceedings and Collections, Neb. State Hist. Soc., V, 323.

9Ant1-Slavery Tracts, No. 15. New Series (New York, 1861), p. 89.



37

A Mr. Howard and others in and about Topeka secreted for
several weeks Ann clarke, a s8lave women, who had fled from near
Lecompton, Kansas. Friends of her master discovered her at last
and took her back to him, but she soon escaped agaln, this time
to Chicago if not to Canada.lo

A Holton, Kansas, which had a number of Underground opera-
tors, one of them was Asa Reynard, of Quaker stock, who was an
incorporator of the town in 1857 and lived west of it on Groomer
Creek.

John Brown found occasional opportunities to help slaves
eacape from Missoupi, and some writers assert that he alded a
large number of them. At any rate, he was so concerned about
their getting to a land of freedom that he traversed an Un-
derground route through eastern Kansas, with a single fugltive
in his wagon, in the autumn of 1855, crossed the Nemaha near
the falls, and stoppéd at Falls City, Nebraska. He was on his
way to New England to seek friends for the anti-slavery cause.
The o0ld hotel in Falls City was the headquarters of Brown,
James H. Lane, and other abolitionists. In the four or five
visits which Brown made to the town he brought slaves with him
each time. It was on his first trip that he established the

reputation of the Jim Lane Trall as a through route of the

10pransactions, Kan. State Hist. Soc., VII, 240.
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Underground Rallroad.

‘ It was Brown's custom to drive a mile or two beyond Falls
City before encamping. At nightfall he sent his fugitives back
to town for concealment in Sauire Dorrington's barn or in William
B§z§hanan's cabin in order that they might not be taken in csase
the camp should be ralded. The abducting trips made by Brown

and other liberators into Mlssourl greatly stimulated flights
among the glaves along the border, who took the road to free-

dom either singly or in groups.11 Many of these fugltlives re-
mained in Nebraska, doubtless scattering among various communities
in the interior.

In January, 1859, Brown, with his followers J. H. Kagl and
Charles Whipvle, brought to Holton in a coﬁered wégon twelve
negroes (one a baby born on the road) whom Brown and his men
had taken from the farms of the Missourians, Hicklan, La Rue
and Crulse, Crulse having been killed in the rald. The weather
was cold, and the negroes had suffered in thelr thin clothing
until they had reached Topeka, where heavier garmemts had been
bought for them with money collected by John Ritchle, Danilel
Sheridan, and others: After getting a meal at the hotel in
Holton, the party moved northeast some asix miles to the log
house of Albert Fuller, on Stralght Creek, arriving on January
29. They were pursued by Deputy Unlited States Marshal John P.
Wood and his posse of about thirty men.

llpransactions and Reports, Neb. State Hist. Soe., IT, 96.
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Meantime the negroes had been made comfortable in Fuller's
cabin, and Whipple was watering his horse down stream, when two
of Wood's men approached and asked him 1f_he had seen any "niggers"
around. Hls answer was that there were some up in the cabin
and that he would go up with them. At the house he warned the one
in advance that he would be a dead man 1f he moved farther. The
other put spurs to his horse and disappeared. Wood increased
his force by constrainihg some of the neilghbors to join him,
while Brown dispatched another Underground agent of those parts
back to Topeka for help. When the word reached John Ritchie
and John Armstrong, they left Sunday morning service and gathered
a dozen men, some on horseback. At Holton they were jJoined by
a few others and reached fuller's cabin on January 31, Just as
Brown was seeilng the refugees enter the wagon and his men hitch
up. Heavy rains had ralsed the creek and the ford was unsafe,
but Brown would not consent to leave the Jim Lane Trall, even
though Wood and his forty-five men occupied their rifle pits
across the stream. As Brown and his party of twenty-one whites
crosged, only four of the marshal's posae,étood thelr ground,
and they threw down thelr arms. They were made prisoners and
thelr horses taken, whlle the others mounted and fled as best they
could. Thé men of Brown's party who were on horseback accompanled
him as far as Seneca, and then turned béck. This episode has gone
into the history of Xansas as "the battle of the Spurs."l2
We have seen that at Mound City Montgomery and his Under-

laCollectiogg, Kan. State Hist. Sos., VIII, 443-#49, XV, 398.
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ground assoclates were in the habit of sending back into Missouri
the shrewdest fugltives who came to them to bring out other
slaves, and that John Brown made liberating ralds. At Lawrsnce
John E. Stewart followed Brown's example, though in a much more
gecretive way. He had pre-empted a clailm and gone into cattle
raising. This supplied him with a valid reason for taking
frequent trips by way of the Kansas River into Missouri to buy
young cattle. On these trips he spread the gospel of freedom
among likely slaves, and brought some of them out with him. The
Kansas State Historical Sa iety has a letter, written in 1860,
which speaks of Mr. Stewart's having "brought up three head the
other night," making sixty-éight since he commenced.

Pardge, in Atchison County, which borders the Missouri River,
was one of the centres from which liberating rails were attempt-
ed, the participants being Charles Ball, Chalkley T. Lipsey,
Edwin 8. Morrison, and Albert Southwick. All of these young men
were of Quaker parentage. In the summer of 1860 they visited
Atchison, Paola,and'other places for the purpose of choosing
favorable points for entering Miassouri. In preparation for
their first rald they ient to Lawrence, and started from Pardee
in September. They brought back twelve negroes, five children
with thelr parents and five other slaves. These they took to
Springdale, Cedar Couﬁty, Iowa, and distributed them among the
homeas of the village and vicinity.

On theilr return to Lawrence they made the acquaintance of
Quantrill, a treacherous adventurer, and ineluded him in the

plans for their second raid, Ransom L. Harris was also in-



41

cluded. Thelr headquarters at Pardee was a deserted log cabin,
twelve by fourteen feet in dimensions, of which Harris was

the custodian as the first station of their Underground route
into eastern Iowa. This raild was undertaken in December, 1860,
against the plantation of Morgan Walker, six miles southeast of
Independence, Missouri, where the slaves numbered twenty-six.
After erossing the Kansas boundary in a two-horse wagon, the
party drove a score of miles through slave territory, camped
one night in the timber near the ford of Indian Creek, proceed-
ed next day to the vicinity of Walker's place, and hi&\ln the
woods a milef west of the plantation. There Southwick remained
with the team. Quantrill slipped away and warned Walker of im-
pending danger, obtaining from,the promise of a horse and

gun for full particulars, which he then gave. Walker prspared
for the visit that evening of the abductors by secreting in

his house his nearest nelghbors and the white men on his place,
all armed.

In the evening Quantrill brought Ball, Llpsey,and Morrison
to the door. They were admitted, and Morrison explained to
Walker the object of thelr visit. They had come to lead the
slaves to freedom, and would cause no trouble if no resistance
was made. As they withdrew to the porch Quantrill stepped
out of range, and a volléy came from within. norrison fell
dead, and Lipsey was badly wounded In the hip. He called for
help, and was carried to a thicket some rods away by Ball.

Next morning they were discovered, surrodnded,and shot to death.

Presumably Quantrill was duly rewarded for his treachery.13

13ppransactiong Kan. State Hist. Sod., VIII, 324-327, 330.
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As a pro-slavery town Jjust across from Mlssourl soil, Leaven-
worth was avolded by the Underground Railroad. However, the free-
state men there rescued the fugltive slave, Charlie Fisher, from
the United States commissioner's room. Charlie was from Hississ-'
ippl and had been caught by his master. The free-state men entered
and told Charlie to leave. Passing from the bullding, he was di-
rected by Col. D. R. Anthony to drive off with the team of Jim
Brown, with which he made a speedy trip to Lawrence. The prominent
men among those who prevented pursuers from following him were
indicted by a grand jury of border ruffians. One night the in-
dictments mysteriously disappeared from the court room and were
burned in a secluded spot outside of town. Judge-John Pettit, of
the United States court, threatened to puﬁish severely thbse guilty
of the act. In answer to an appeal from Colonel Anthony;General
James'Montgomery brought fifty of his men to Leavenworth in time
for the next session of the court. They and a hundred or more
cltizens were present when 1t convened, the soldlers being under
Montgomery's orders to shoot the judge and the United States
marshal if the cases were called for trial. The judge realized
his danger and dismissed the cases as they were called.l4

8o far as known,the westernmost Underground route of Kansas
ran part way in the fourth tler of countles from the Missouri
boundary. Only two towns on thls route where considerable numbers
of slaves were aided have been identified, namely, Mission Creek
and Wabaunsee.15 These fugltives may have entered Nebraska up through
the valley of the Big Blue River, or by turning northeast to
Holton and then north by that route.

¢ A

14 .
Transactions, Kan. State Hist. Soe., VIII, 221-222.
15coltections, Ean. State Hist. Soc., XI, 609.
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The recovery of escaped slaves was stimulated by the offer
of money rewafds, the amount designated varying with the nuﬁber
and value of the human chattels lost. At length, the western
Missourians offered A standing reward of §200 for every one re-
turned.16 This collective action would indicate that escapes
had become more general and widespread, and it certainly en-
couraged gangs of slavehunters to vigorous search and acts
of violence. Such a gang overtook three fugitives north of
Nemaha City, in Nebraska, in 1857, shot one of them in the arm,
and captured him. The other two returned the fire, killed one
of the gang named William Myers, and got away with two horses.

" The wounded negro was first confined in the county Jall and
then transferred to Otoe County for trial, but was returned
to his master about January, 1858, without the case being
heard.l7

Perhaps the two slaves with their stolen horses were fortu-
nate enough to reach the station kept by a Mr. Mayhew, in the
valley north of the cemetery at Nebraska City. This station was
a cave, sixteen feet doep,'at the base of a steep bank,’with a
door partly hidden and a hollow log reaching to the surface of
the ground for ventilating purposes. Mr. Mayhew's wife was the

sister of Kagi, one of John Brown's men.18

oy

16gangas Gity Star (Mo.), July 2, 1905.

1TNemaha Cit Journal, Jan., 1858; Anti-Slavery Tracts, No. 15.
Series. (New York, 1861), p. 93.

18Transactions and Reports, Neb. State Hist. Soc., V, T2.
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CHAPTER IV

UNDERGROUND ROUTES IN IOWA

Roytes to Tabor and Ingidents There and Thereebouts

At Nebraska City there was a ferry by which the fugitives us-~
ually crossed the Missouri River into Ioiu._ Thence they could take

one of three routes to Tabor, with its numerous Underground agsnts
among the Obernni graduates and Congregationalists. They could
move north to Civil Bend (later Percival), where Dr. Ira D. Blan~
chard was the most zeealous operator and was ably assisted by
others. From Civil Bend the route led northeast to Tabor. A sec-
ond route passed from Percival through Thurmen to Tabor, while the
third one ran from the ferry northeast to Sidney, and from there
directly north to Tabor. At this famous Junction the more promi-
nent aiders of fugitives were ¥r. and Mprs. George B. Gaston, My.
and Mrs. James K, Gaston, the Rev. and Mrs. John Todd, President
and Mrs. William M. Brooks, Origin Cummings, Mr. and Mrs . Jonas
Jones, Mr. and Mrs. Lester Platt and Dr. J. F. Sanborn. Regular
hiding places were maintained in the Sanborn, Todad, Jones, and

George B. Gaston homes, all of which atill stand in their original
or altered conditions, and doubtless in other houses or barns of
the village. '

The Rev.}bTodd glves July 4, 1854, as the date of the begin-
ning of Underground activities in Tabor. The occasion was the ar-
rival in the quiet village of a Mormon family and their six slaves
in three covered vagons on their way from Mississippri to Salt Lake
City. After encamping for the might, the Mormons sent two of the
blacks to get water from a well near a hotel, then under construction.
The builders talked with these blacks and found that five of the
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six in thelir pa;trty wished to escepes from slavery. By arrangsment
.tha five met thch-~ gaides -8, H. Adams, John Hallam, James K.
Guton‘, and viﬂgh }!oni-y--nt ths hotel corner that night and were
taksn across the Mshnabotna River and hidden in the bushes. MNean=-
while Gooi-an B. Gaston drove out to the house of C. ¥, Tolles, on
Silver Creek, and arranged for their reception.
The owner of the slaves found sympathizers e few miles south
of Tabor, w*ho helped him hant for his runaways on both sides of
the Eishnabotna. One of the ssarehing party was kindly disposed
to the lunted creatures and avoided looking for them in the plmee
where he knew them to be. Hence they were not found. '
After the fruitless hunt the fuglitives were taken .ln charge by

Cephas Case and William L. Clark. After they had gone some distanoce
they inquired the way to Quiney of a stranger on horseback. This

stranger reportsd what he had seen te the master, who hastensd to
Quinoy and posted handbills desgribing his slaves, but got no clue

of them because Clark and Case, fearing trouble, had gons north-
east to Lewis. They traveled on over one hundred miles farther

and finally handed over their passengers to some station~kesper
in & Suaker settlasment near the Des Noines Binr;]'

One could fill a book with the instances of aid sfforded to
fugitives at Tabor. Hence only a few of the later and more notable
ones will be narrated. Iwo slave girls owned by Mr. Nuckells, a

prominent merchant of Nebraska City, were taken across the river
by John Willismson, who bought small producs from the farmers om

lRev. Jorn Todd, Early Settlement snd Growth of Western lowa, 134-137.
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the Nebraska sides and sold them oheap jewelry and other trinkets.
In Dscember, 1858, these girls were sccompanied from Civil Bend
to Tebor by Dr. Blanchard, snd hidden in the house of B. F. Ladd

for the day, the plan being to send them on that night. Nuckolils
had his relatives on the Iowa side station watchers at the bridges

across Silver Qrsok and the Kishnabotna Rivor,pnt the party
eﬁnod the oreek nesr its mouth and the river at ¥nite Cloud, being
led by Deacon Origin Oumminge with s lantern, for it was a moonless
misty night. -

ion,ntino Fuckolls and his trionds searched the houses and
premises of Potciul without suthority. Against this Eeuben Wil-
liams remonstrated 1# strong terms, and was assaulted over the
hssd by Buckells. The ssssllant was arrested but allowed to go
home, the following dnyAs t for his trial. In order to be pre=-
pared for an influx of Mackolls' friends, the people of Parcival
suamoned help from Tabor. In the mornming a wagezi filled with the
military ocompany of that village appeared, boingv preceded by My.

Todd on horseback. However the running ice in the Missourd River
Prevented the crossing of Nuckolls and his crowd. For seversl
terms the case of Williams yersue Fuckolls ocontinmed in the county
court qnti 1, finally, the plaintif abtained damages to the extent
of several thousand doellars. This enabled Mm to bulld a good
house and burngz ,.
| A$ Civil Bend Mr. and Nrs. E. 0. Platt belonged to the grouwp
of Undgi‘ground workers. Ons night they were called from bed and
asked by Dr, Ira D. Blanchard if they were going te Tabor noxt'day.

2Rev. John Toda, oP. oit., 139142,
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as he had a young mulatte who by his escape had rendered his bmtt!'
slaveless. As they intended to taks two losds of shingles to the
town, they readialy consented to carry the palatto with them. Ao~
cordingly plses was provided for him on a bed of straw under & canvas
sheet in the wagon driven by Mrs. Platt. After passing through a
small settlement two miles out from Givil Bend, the track lay near
the NMisscurl River, the reglon being uninhabited for several mlles
until a hamlet called "Plus Hollow" was reached.

Wnile traveling through this region, the mmlatto was allowed to
sit up so as to watch the road in both directions. Eut the approash
of a rider from the rear caused him to drop back. The rider soon
came slongside snd kept pace for some distance, watching kunly bat

saying nothing. Then he urged his mule shead, and when the Platts
arrived in "Plum Hollow" the mule was hitshed in front of the only

store in the place. Mr. Platt, having seme business to transact,
told his wife to drive on slowly. 8oon the ztranger ecsug-t up with
her, bﬁt agein remained silent and doubtless saw that she had a deter-
mined look on her face and a black-snake whip in her hand. However,
she had no oecasion tc use it in her defense, for the rider did nmeot
tarry long, .

At Tabor Mrs, Platt turned into the yard of 4. L. Bmith's hay
barn, and her psssenger ascended into the loft. After being fed
and cared for, he was taken on that night to Lewls by one of Tabor's
conductors .

Two years later the merchent at "Plum hollow" asked Mrs. Platt if
she 414 not travel somstimes in the interest of the Underground Rail~-
road. From him she learned that the rider on the mule was a secret
friend of escaping slaves, that he had been aware that the mulatte

was on the road, and felt sure that he was in Mrs. Platt's lumber
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wagon, and had ridden up to test her courage ss & conductor. MNrs.

Platt 1ived in Civil Bend from 1847 to 1861, during which period

she aided many refugees R4

Among the many slaves who orossed from Nissouri into lowa to

find the protection of friends, were two men On horseback who b"f
longed to Jo Parks, an Indian, who lived about ten miles from Weat~

port, Missouri, and had many slaves. dJo procured & warrant, not
good in Iowa, and went in quest of his runaways. They were 80 ig~
norant as to have taken work in s harvest fisld not far from the
Missouri line, where Jo found them and whemce he meant to take them
back, tat his plan was upset by the abolitionists of the neighbore~
heod, who threatensd to arrest him for hdmpping. Hence he left in
heste for his home, without either nhis th or his horses .‘

Early in April, 1857, s slave woman arrived in Tabor, having
besn directed there by John H. Byrd, the pastor of a little Congre-
gationel Church at Atohison, Kansas. This women was disgaised in a
veil, cloak and gloves to look like Ers. Todd end taken by the lat~
ter's husband in his buggy up to Lewis S Pis was evidently & day~
light trip, whigh was sometimes resortsd to when héate was con~
sidered essential.

An umisual episocde bégnn early in NMareh, 1860, with the arriwal
in Tabor of four fugltives from Indian Territory. These negroes were
econveyed in & covered wagon by Edwerd T, 8heldon and Newton Wood~
ford across 3ilver and Mud Creeks. At the latter place they were

3
Latter from Mrs. Flatt, Nov. 6, 180¢.

‘&- llectiops, Kansas State Hist. 80c., VIII, 254.
5&'. John !ﬂdd’ OB~ ﬂt!, 138.



49

discovered to be ranning off slaves, and a warrant was obtained from
Squire Cramer, with which a posse overtook and arrested the conduct-
ors for trial before the squire. The slaves were taken to Glemwood
to be lodged in the jail of Mills County, but Mr. Samson, the jailor,
was an anti-slavery man and would not receive them. Consequently
they were placed temporarily in the barn of George linville, a
couple of miles southeast of Glenwood, and the next day removed to
the house of Joe Foster, on 8ilver Creek.

Word of the capture was brought to Tabor, and a number of the
men of the village attended the trial of Woodford and Sheldon, who
were defended by Jason Mason and James Vincent. Towards the end of
the trial, which resulted in clearing the defendants, the Tabori tes
were quietly informed that there was “game" for them at Joe Foster's,
two miles away. To see whet the " game" might be, E. S, Hill and
George Hunter went thither and hid in the bushes near the house. In

the full of the moon they saw the slaves loaded into a wagon drawn
by four horses, and, after noting the direction taken by the vehicle,

they returned to the squire's just as the trial ended. The Tabor~
1tes ocrowded into two sleds and started in pursuit. They found the
trail ere long, made speed down the west side of the West Nishnabotna
to White Cloud, crossed the ﬂvqr, and passed down the bottom unﬁl
they finally discerned the wagon on a distant rise of ground. In

the early dawn they overtook it east of Tabor. They brought 1t into
the village under heavy guard and permitted the pro-slavery men to

eat their breakfast in the hotel, while they spirited the fugl tives
away. The outwitted whites were sent to thelr homeés, and the fugl tivee

were halted at L. E. Webb's, two miles east of Tabor, for breakfast

and to remain through the day. At sundown they proceeded in a 8led,
éscorted by Origin Cummings, L. B. Hill’, Paul Mason, D. E. Woods,
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and others on horseback. At Deacon L. B. Hill's place the blacks
were transferred to a wagon and driven thence to the divide between
Walmut Creek and the East Nishnabotna, which was rollowed up to Lewis.
At Oliver Mills' station the party stopped for ﬁna&k£¢at and reached
Lewis on March 10, after being out three days and four nights on s
trip usually ocoupying twenty=-four hours. Having delivered the
refugees to other conductors in Lewis, the Taborites returned hcome.6

The ruffians, who seized and restored fugitives to their masters,
were sometimes able to kidnap free negroes. In such cases Underground
men of the neighborhood'considered it a part of thelr duty to free |
the captives and return them to their homes. Dr. Blanchard, of Civil
Bend, and Deacon George B. Gaston, of Tabor, figured in an incident
of this sort. John Williamson, Henry Garner and his sister Maria
were free negroes who lived at Civil Bend and were well known to
Dr. Blanchard. The notorious shavehunter Hurd spent several weeks
there and planned their seizure. In a closed carriage he and two of
his gang overtook them while traveling from Percival Iowa, to Omaha,
Nebraska. They felled Garner with a club, and arried all of the
little party into Missouri. After some days Williamson escaped, but
the Garners were lodged in a slave pen at St. Louis, evidently for
the purpose of being sold.

When Dr. Blanchard learned of this kldnapping, he got Deacon
Gaston to accompany him in search of the Garners, and at length traced
them to their place of confinement. The doctor told their Keopar h§' ,

they had been aeizéd»gnsthat'they;were}frge;negroes. By legal action

they were set at liverty. The kidnappers were apprehended and imprie

soned at Council Bluffs to await triél, but broke jall and escaped bee~

fore their hoaring.7

6Rev. John Todd, op. ecit., 144-150.
"Rev. John Todd, op. cit., 152-153.
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The only negro of Tabor, who long rssided in that vieinity, di_td.r
about the end of the third week in Juns, 1936. Hls name was ¥illiam
Bankston and he had come from New Orleans to Tabor by way of the
Endgi!gmagd Ratlroad. He long worked for men in the nelghborhood anrd
in later years owned small tracts of land for truck gardening, livins
alons on east Vine Street. In Mareh, 1881, he joined the Congrega- ’
tional olursh and eontritmted sums of money te both the chursh and
Tabor Gonega.a |

Underground m !grtn and Northesst out of Tabor |

As Tebor was the Junction of three Underground branches whigh

sprang from Nebraska Oity, so alse it was the starting point of four
diverging routes. One of these ran a doten miles north to UGlemwood,
whiech had a station from the early 1850's when Daniel H. Wheeler lo-
cated there. PFrom Glerwood the outlet seems to have been sastward
about five miles to the Silver Creek neighborhcod, s little west of
Malvern, where the operators were Dantel Brigas, G. ¥. Tolles, and a
Mr. Wing. This neighborhood also had a direct connection with ‘hﬁor
and apother with Lewis, thirty-five miles to the northesst. On the -
route from Tabor to Lewis there waes a station at the Eorris place, on
Indian Oreek, between Hmerson and Hasting, another at the fam of

Galvin Bradway, in the northeast corner of Pottawattamie County, and
still another tt_Bndlhav'n, near Lewis. At least on one ogccasion

Nr. Bradway drove scuth a dosen or fifteen miles to Frankfort, with
e slave family, end stoppsd oyernight with J. B. Packard, who had bee
come & permanent resident there in hir, 1866+ The next morning Nr.
Bnd!uy drove on sast with his load. MNr. Bradshay had a reputation
for rcndorlng effioclent 'om ce in handung fugitives and for being
ready to use weapons in their defense. In the town of Lewis itself

®Council Bluffs Wonpareil, June £5, 1938,
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there was a considerable group of Underground Rallroaders. Those
remembered were J. N. Coe, Amos Gridley, the Rev. George B. Hitch~

cook, and Oliver Mills. Sometimes several wagons loaded with refu-
gees would arrive in Lewis at the same time, usually at night, and
keep all hands busy. In December, 1868, two slave girls of Colonel
NMackolls were brought into the town and secreted in an unsuspected
Place. By good strategy they were removed through the midst of
their pursuers .9 On the road out of Lewis east of Winterset lived
the Hedges family, who were hospi table to 'e;caping slaves,

The Rev. E. 8. H111p, who was himself often a conductor on the
route from Tabor to Lewis from 1856, télls us i:hat the drive was rir-
ty-nine miles and could not always be made in one night. In that
case a covered wagon and an 'uigrant air* served to allay the sus-
Ploions of the persons one met on the road. The Underground traffio
was active, he says, fromrlB35 until ‘the Civil War broke up the bus'i-
ness, which was heaviest out of“ Tabor from 1852 to 1868, His bro-
ther, L. B. Hill, plloted one handred and three ﬁlg.luvos during the
Year following their father's death, which occurred in 1851; but 1t
must be remembered that Tabort's other conductors were not idle auring
that brief period or the Years following. One may not hope to give
an exhaustive list of them, but ome oan name the following: Origin
OCummnings, 8. D, Dea, 8, H, Adams , E, Avery, A, c.‘(}a,ton" Charles F.

Lawrence, a Mp. Mason, Edward T. Sheldon, James L. Smith

s » and Newton
Woodford.

From Tabor fugl tives Were sometimes directed through to the ola

9 Letter from Dani ‘ . |
r niel H., Wheeler, May 29 1900; 1lette r ]
'1111;153, no date; letter rnon"x J.yB. iaohr&,,go:?rlémgg?rﬁztér
{ggm._ . H.._.A_dp.qia.‘Oqt-'3].,-.18.94}-~'19tter'frém Oliver Mills, Oct, 18,
Si jester Tiom Mrs. E.'d. Platt,: Fov. 6 1695; Daily Nonperesl.’
o1l Bluffs, Ia., Aug. 22, 1920’ ’

10
Iﬂ:g::rn:r::tzfv. E. 8, Hilg, Oct. 30, 1894; letter from J. E.
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town of Prankfort, which in 18568 numbered seventesn buildinge and
had three physielans. It wu/a{nttlo ir\eart of Red Oak and no longer
exists. In the outskirts of Prankfort lived the Rev. William ¥.
Merritt. Agcording to his description of the route with which he
was conneoted, it ran from Tabor close to the southern boundaries
of Mills and NMontgomery counties until it reached Tarkio Creek, then
along that creek to Pilot Grove Township, Montgomery County, and u" .
aoross the divide and up Seven Nile Creek into Oass County, where
there was a _-uuon. At this point the routs doubtlué turned east
to ¥interset. | |

In Prankfort Dr. Amasa Boknd, Solemon Stout, and others admints~
tered the Underground mysteries . | Dr. Bond was i settler from Indianm

and & sealous friend of the slave. Prom Frankfort the fugitives ware
often taken to Mount Pisgah as the next stop. Being in Frankfort

ons day, Mr. Nerritt wes in the stors talking with an acquaintance, -
when Sheriff L. 0. Olark loudly charged him with harboring *ni ggers"”
out at his plase and warned him against committing any "eriminali-
ties" in the county. Then, taking Nr. Nerritt out to the hitohing
reck, he told Mim in lov tones thst the United States marshal had

ordered him to search his pﬂld.no, and that he would be ‘there uhant
nine o'oclock that night with o pono.n

Ten minutes later Mr, Merritt was back at his eabin on Taride
and found there the Rev. John Todd from Tador, sitting in the house
and reading e Bible, while the slaves he had brought were hmddled in
the "lean-to”. He told Nr. Toad that officers were on their trail,
and that the negroes must be moved before nine o'clook. Two men,
three women, and three small chlildren were brought in, and Nr. Nerritt
80t Dreakfast for them. An hour later Mr. Todd was on his way bagk

Lottor from J. B. l’tehrd Dec. 12, 18 Des Moines Capital,
7, 1924; loetter from ¥W. l;rﬁ.tt. D;c. ggi 1895. ney
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to Tabor, and Mr. Merritt was driving with the fugitives in the
bottom of & eanvas-coversd wagon, to the statlion in Cass Oounty,
where he delivered them on the morning of the third day.

In sccor§anes with his varming, Sheriff Cook visited Mr. Mer~
ritt's place and stood at a distance, with his back to the sgens of
aotion, tnlk!.ng with some of his men while his ohlef deputy, Dp.

Bond, conduoted . m search. When he jearned that no ineriminating
evidence had been tannd, the shariff swore that he would give two
dollars out at h!i own pocket *to oateh anyone ranning niggers tmud:t
nis county," nthr which the aarehm went home and to bcd.m ‘

Semetines refugess were sonveyed to Er. lerritt'_a Plage from
smity (or Oollege 8prings), a settlement formed by Nassaohusetts
people in 1848 a little north of the NMissouri boundary in Page County.
Por examples, in the autumn of 1861 or later seven were brought him
by the Congregational minister of that place. This party was headed
by & runaway who had gone back to Nissouri and abducted his nothor,
sisters, and brothers. They were amply supplied with provuio.na.
ete., by Mr. Nerritt and nis neighbors and passed oﬁ. The next day
a body of armed men on horseback scoured the neighborhood, but the
slaves for whom they were looking were nlraady thirty miles avay-]'s

Another route out of Lewis ran northeast near Tarkey Creek to the
south line of Gathrie County, where the villags of Casey now stands,--
a distance say of thirty miles,~-then ten miles to Summit Grove (now
Staart), there turned northesst and orossed Racooon River near Red-
fleld,and passed on through Adel to Des Moines. Prm Summit Grove

15Des Moines Gapital, Ray 7, 1024.
13Lettar from W. ¥. Merritt, Dec. 22, 1895.
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1un;d snothsr branch, whieh passed somewhat nertheas twardly along
Quaker Divide (often called Bear Gresk from 1ts Quaker meeting), the
divide being five miles nortiwest of Barliham. This branch followed
along the south side of the uprard mu*vo ‘of the South Raoccoon to
Des Moines. It was at Bear Creek that John Brown established one
of his reliable stations, vhare he stopped on his journeys to Kanneas
end on the way back Bast when he brought fugltives with him. 14

Sssmel B. Chantry kept a statlon near the site of Oaun Alistus
¥. Lowis at Susmit Orove, to which colered men and Women many times
orossed the preiries sixteen miles northwest from the village of
Middle River, which llies six miles west of Winterset; and the Cook
forily at Guaker Divide (Bear Creek}i This family corsisted of Grand-
father dohn Cook and his wifs, their son Martin and his family, and
Martin's two nephews, John R, and Harmon Cook. Thesa nephevs and
their uncle were the conductors. :

One Priday evening in the winter. of . 1859-60, while Harmon vu |
attending school, he drove a carrisgs to Bear Cresk oontuning two
slave sisters who had ran away from their fathsr and mester in Nissoun
becsuse they had heard him planning to sell them down South. They had
been on the road seven weeks when thev arrived at Summit Grove. Bg=
fore dsylight Saturday mornirg they weiw safhly at home with the Cook
family. -

On the following Nonday afterncon one of the sisters ran in frem
the yard and sald their master was coming. He was accompanied by
other men and teld Bﬂm!tutﬁor Cook that he had reason to bouan' his
girls were thers. The old man started a parley by demanding his war~
rant, during which Grandmother Jook appeared and urged that the master

* g 1o 2 Poli ‘ » 31X, 446, -
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be permitted to seareh the house. He looked through all the rooms,
but found no‘ trage of his slave dsughters because they had boorn eare~
fully hidden under & large feather bed, over which the covers had
hsen smoothly lpﬁld and the pdllnyn nutly set up at the head of
the bed. Grandmether Cook had correctly informed the slaveholder
that he would not find the persens r&r whom he was looking.'® |

D. B. Gook, a son of Martin Cook, says that the firet negroes
he ever sa¥ was one morning whsn he and his brother were sent upstairs
on an orr;nd and were so scared by goming wpon four big, black men 1
that they ran down in a burry. All that day the negross Were sm=
ployed in the field southwest of the house cutting corn amnd w¢r§
tho_roforo not discovered by the men who came and searched the hmau -
That night Hartin Cook put the negroes in hie wagon, covered them witl
2 sheet, drove nmorth, and crossed the rerry.m This trip seems o
have besn mads to Adel. |

Prom Adel the route was twenty-three miles east to Das Moines.
On this route J. J. Jordan 1lived in & two and a half story frame
house a few miles west of the oity, and there he entertained John
Brewn and NMs fugitives. Hg often concealed runaways out in the
thiok undergrowth of the timber on his famm,. |

Gni time a carriags load of escaping slaves was moving down the
south side of Eacoocon River and had reached the woods on the bluffs
near Des Noines, when about thres o'clook in the morning distant hoot
beats were heard in the rear. At onee the carriage turned off into a
narrow resd, dewn which it passed a few rods and stopped. After the

sounds of the horses wers lost in the distance, the carriage turned
and sped for the station in Des NMoines, where the Passengers wersg

151 i '* ~‘., :. niaw :,‘ ’ e » II. “7‘9’ x 385
leletter tm D. B. Cook, Aug. 21, 1934.
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17
landed before daylight.

Seven miles soutiwest of Earlham and thirteen miles northwest
of Winterset lived John Early. His station was undoubtedly a con-
-meung 1ink between the operators in and near Winterset and thoss of
Q\ukor Divide (Bear Creek) Je

Wnile Nr. Merritt piloted fugitives from Frankfort (or Red Oak)
up to the station on Seven Mile Creek, sast of Lewis, whenoe they
doubtless passed mhurd to Ponttﬁollo and Winterset, some of them
were moved diraot-ly east to Quiney before striking northeastward for
Nevinville and 'uttorlat. J. B. Todd, the son of the Rev. Jotn Todd
of Tabor, has said that the stations usually visited after Lewis was

reached were Fontanelle and Winterset. Thosos towns are in the third
tier of counties north of the Missourl boundsry, but he adds that

some times the route was through Quiney, tims intimating that there
was an alternative route (or routes) whioh passed through Mille apd
Montgomery counties, which are in the ssoond tier.

a. ¥, Grant, who settled at Nevinville in the spring of 1889,
when southwestern Iowa was s$i111 eparsely ssttled and stations vere
some distance spart, speaks of a route issulng from ln-yullo, lu-:‘ |
souri, running north to Bedford and so to Quiney, whence it passed
northeast to Nevinville and on to Winterset, in the third tier, and te
Des Moines, in the 4th tier. Half-way betweesn Quinay and Nevinville
lived Samuel Moore, whose house wes a station. The seotion of this
road below Quiney, Mr. Grant thinks, began operations as late as the
spring of 1861 snd contimed until the Bmancipation Proolamation, The
little village of Sevinville, he adds, had no lagk of helpers because
it had been settled by New England abolitionists. It contained only
ene Demoerat, Deagon P. R. Chamberlain, from Ashtabula, Ohio, and he
¥as also an abolitionist. The descon not only took fagi tives into hia

7
: Lotter from D. B. Oook, Aug. 21, 1934.
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house, t:nt he also gave them empleyment and btuilt a house for them
on his rarn. Several families of escaped slaves lived comfortably in
the village during most of the Civil ¥ar and aﬁﬁt their ohildren te
both day and Sanday sehool. Toward the end of the confliet they Te=
moved to D§a Noines ,,1' | |

At Winterset, whioh was platted in 1849, three incoming reutes
converged. One of these was from Lewis and intermediate -uuom‘.‘to'
the west, another was from Quiney and Bevinville, and the third was
from the scutheast. A mile west of Winterset B. F. Roberts maintained
& station in a thras-<eatory stone house he had huilt. th& basement of
which was often full of refugesa. His usual trip was made at night in
a covered wagon te Indianola, twenty-six ‘n:llu east, where he deiiv~

‘ond his passengers to some co-worker. Near Kr. Roberts lived Dpr,
Leonard, who also befriended fugitives and sent his son, 3. R, Leonard,

to pilot them on. In Winterset itself Dr, S8cott was the manager of &
station. H, A, Bueller reports that the Underground traffie in the |
Winterset n‘m contimied during the 1850's and until 18&’,”

A fov miles sguthaut of Winterset there was a station xept by
John 8. ('.L'ullil‘,, who probably recelved hik, eonsigmmenta of negroes from
Osgecla, about eighteon miles farther in that dimnuoﬁ, and conveyed

them part or all of the way te Des Noines, ﬂnrty miles or more te the
northeas t .£1

Besides the outbound route from ¥interset tc Indianola and dbe-
yond, there was one northeast to Des Moines, wit: intermediate stations
Seven and eight miles cut kept by James Forris and William McDonald,

19Letter from G. . Grant, Jan. 24, 1896.

t.

2lietter from H. A.,Iuénu, Aug. 13, 1934,
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respsctively. Mr. Ferris is sasid to have alded the escape of a
slave belonging to his son-in-law, who lived in Missouri. The mas-~
ter came to the Ferris house in pursult and slept in the chamber
just below the attle room in which his chattel was concoatled.z2

The Jim Lane Trail as an Underground Route

A route from Sidney, the seat of Fremont County in the southwest
corner of Iowa, then northeast to Quincy, Adams County, and east a=

cross Union to Osceola, the;seat of Clark County, them nortiward

through the western part of Warren to Indianola, then east again by
way of Knoxville and Oskaloosa to 3igourney, in Keokuk County, then

northeast to Iowa Git;, John County,=-this route‘waa the trail lasd
out in 1856 by James H. Lane, when the Missouri River was closed to
free-state immigration into Kansas. The establisiment of the tra:llb
was announced in a circular by the Iowa 8tate Central Committee on
July 4 of that year, the towns along it being named in reverse order,
except that Sidney was mentioned before Quincy. The trail was marked
by cairns or piles of stones built on the elevations.  These became
known as “Lane's Chimneys."

In the autumn of 1856, after Lane's army of the North had en-
tered Kansas over this treil, Dr. Ira D. Blunohnrd‘ was convinced that
it was the most practicable route for slaves escaping to Canada and
went to Kansas to recommend it to the anti-slavery people thon.

John Brown readily agreed with Blanchard and accompanied him to Toe-
peka to improve the arrangements/of that Underground centre 23

As we have seen a part of the Jim Lane trail stretched east from

Indianola to Knoxville and Oskaloosa. Who attended to the refugees

221aetter from H., A, Mueller, Aug. 13, 1924.
2scollections, Kansas State Historical Society, XE11, 288%290.
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at Knoxville is not yst known, and only one of the men operating at
Oskaloosa has been dédivered. He was Jemes Boyd, who, in 1882, re-
moved from near New Concord, OGusmmsey County, Ohio, to that town and,
true to his Covenanter prineiples, engaged in running off slaves.
At times they came through in bands. PFor Example, in 1856, Nr.
Boyd's eldest son Williar took a load of ten in a blg covered iamn
to some station eastward, probably in 31gourney.2$

Sometimes the unt“.l-sinnry poeplc»qr Iowa were angesred by ad-~
vertisements in tha ‘nnapapora. offering rewards for runaway slaves.
One such appeared in the Keokmk Argus of May 31, 1846, which de-
soribed a lhnimn, Inoy, thirty-six years of age, very stout
and b].uik,.’ who l'md esoapsd frem Waterloe, Olark County, Missouri.
It was believed thut nm mld be oconducted to Iowa Territory in
-the direection of xﬂ”ﬂlﬁl , the seat of Van Buren County, or beyond
that plasce to a settlement of nagroos who had besn freed some nau‘
befors by one Neirs, of Tally, Lewis County, Missouri. A nboni
revard and the payment of reasonable expenses wers offered for
Inoy's return, or her detention until her owner could get her .26
In many neighdborhoeds notices of this seort would produce the op-
posite effect from that intended.

ot infrequently fugltives were conveyed down from ths Des
Moines reute through the soutlwest corner of Jasper County, where
the Corner family cared for them and took them through Oskaloosa to
the vicinity of Fremont, a dozen miles southsast of Oskaloosa. There
they were entrusted to abonuo:i friends, including Isaac Hookett,

2419t ter from 807.'?'- P. Boyd, no date.
By ows Journal of Eistory and Politigs, XV, 329.



Hatthew NoCormiok, and Willlem Montgomery. In 1853 or '4 a man
brought a slave mother and child to the Gorners. Nr. Corner, the
head of the family, Piloted them to the Premont neighborheod,
whence Mr. !on#mm eonveyed thn thirteen miles east to Mcm-#&;
From there thay were taken nine miles northeast to Washington and N
80, by & more or less sigrag course some seventy miles to Davenpart.
At this point thcy were ferried across the Nississippi. Other
vnlam who arrived at ths home of the Corners were forwarded by tha
same rontc, while still others were eonducted thlrty =miles northeut:‘?f
~ to Gunmll, then east through the fourth tier of aennuel to
Davenport. |

It was probably in 1856 that Mr. Cormer attempted to take a
male puungu- to Premont by a shorter route than his usual onh, .
bat 1t was uvn-y dark ni,ght and he lost his way. B.V.Yppn.a to
an old Hollander, paid Mn u‘enty-ni‘n.un@, and was put én the
road to Pella. There he strmek the stage read to Oskaloosa, but
east of that town had to stop at a Quaker settlement because day
was bﬂnuné.“ Mr. Corner hid his passenger in s eornfield and so
reported io 1ts owner, whn dleplayod conzidersble timidity. How-
ever, the farmer's wife. poaunod the requisite courage, got break~-
fast for their ﬂsitorl , and persuaded her Imsband to permit the
8lave to remain until Br. Corner could rids down to Fremont and
arrangs with Isasc Hookeit :5 ocall for him that night. The explan~
ation was that the farwer's wife was Mr. Hookett's sister. A'rhat |
night Isasc drove with the fugitive to Kighland.®®

2 ,
ﬁlottar from ¥. E. Corner, no date.
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CHAPTER V
UNDERGROUND ROUTES IN IOWA (contimued)

N X U - 8 in Sputheas t

Counties of Iowa

The four eastermmost counties of the first tier, the four of the
second, and the thres of the third are netted over with interlacing
Underground trails, which would doubtless be more numerous if all of
them were known. The patrols maintaihed along the Missourli bound-
ary were not alert enough to prevent slaves from crossing into Iowa
at many points. The gfoatest obstacle in their way was the stretoh
of thirty miles of the Des Moines River whioh formed tho.aouthuea-
tern boundary of Lee County. As the slaves usually entered the
state without guides, their places of ingress have in general gone
unrecorded, but a few are known.

In thg southwestern angle of Lee County Croton was a favorite
Place for entrance, because the runaways had hsard that they had

mmerous friends in the county among the Quakers and the Congrega-
tionalists. H. B. Armstrong lived from 1839 to 1852 a few miles

northeast of Org?on, where he operated a mill. Incidentally, he
escorted fugitives to Demmark, then nortilwest eighteen miles to
Salem. Benjamin Carey and L. Holbpook were other condnotér- on

this route. From some of the slaves he had helped Mr. A_i:mltrong
received letters tolling of thelr safe arrival in Canada. Migs-
ourians sometimes visited Mr. Armafrong'l mill, with the poorly con-
cealed purpose of discovering where the Undorground Railroad started.

Some of them were frank enough to tell him, however, that a large
reward was offered to any one who would induece him to oross the
Missourt line.l '

lLetter from J. H. Arms trong, Dec. 10, 1895.
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S1x miles northeast of Croton livod the Cary and Holbrook fam-
1lies, nho received and aided fugitives. The next Underground head-
quarters in that direction was Denmark, which was first settled in
June, 1836, by a few New Englanders. About fifteen months later the
Rev. Julius Reed and the Rev. Asa Turnor\arrivod to organize the
Congregational Church 1n a place having only three dwellings and a
meeting-houno. In May, 1838, tho new congregation consisted of
thirty-two persons, but it rapidly grew under the pastorate of Mr..
"Tarner, which lasted thirty years. Among the newcomes in 1839 was
Dr. George Shedd, a graduate of Dartmouth College and'studont_of med=
icino at Cincinnati, bhio, who, like MNr. Turner, both‘talked and
practiced abolition. Other members of the Underground contingent
were Brown H. Adamson and Messrs. ﬁooskid and Fox.‘ In fact, Demmark -
became widoly known as a hotbed of anti-alavery and an l1mportant
Underground centre. Once when a slave woman was in hiding there and
a gang of fellows were lunting for her, Mr. Adamson hitched up his
buggy as 1f'to take his wife to church, but instead drove off nith
the woman disguilod in her clothes rightrfhrough the crowd. Theron
Trowbridge, a parishoner of Mr. Turner's, was no less b0old in helping |
fugl tives to elude their puarsuers . Ono Sunday morning he had several
in his house and knew they were being hnntedv‘by men with bloodhounds .
Nevertheless, he meant to attend service as uaual, but before loaiinév
home he prepared some poisoned bisonits for tne dogs and instructed
s son, J. B. Trowbridge, to feed them to the animals in case they
appeared. The dogs ate the biscuits and wers never used afterwards
to mnt runaways. -

The Underground activities contimued at Demmark through the sum-
mer of 1862 as is shown by two editorials in the Pnain Dealer, a

2Iowa Journal of History and Politics, XXII, 4223, 446.
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Democratic newspaper published at Fort Madison. The first of these
appeared on May 27, 185’7, and declared that, "To the disgrance of the
County and State, Dermark has the neme of being a rendezvous of men,
who occasionally engage in negro-stealing, at the same time profess=
ing the religion of the gospel. Men of less shrewdness have been
hanged--have received their just deserts --for engaging in practices
of which respectable citizens of Denmark have been accused.” The
other, which was printed on July 11, 1862, treated of the celebration
of Independence Day in Demmark, devoting most of its space in a sar-
castic vein to the presence of “an intelligent golored gentleman, late
of Virginia, but now sojourning in Demmark, who was introduced to the
mltitude of white ladies and gentlemen by Parson '1\1rner."3
Betweeﬁ Dermark and Salem was the Quaker commnity of New Gar-
den, whigh had 1ts way-stations. One of these was the barn of Nathan

Bond, where on one occesion a fugitive was awaiting the opportuni ty
of conveyance to Demmark. However, he had the misfortune to be cap-
tured by two brothers named Berry, who recelved a reward of $200 for
him.“ Another hiding-place in New Garden was in the house of Joseph
D, Hoag, for many years a minister of the Society of Friends there.
In bullding his house Mr. Hoag had a secret closet constructed be=~
neath the stairway leading to the upper floor, the entrance to it
being through a trap-door on the landing. The closet still bears the
‘significant name of "the nigger hold."
Across the road and a little to the west of Mp. Hoag 1lived Joel

C. Garretson, who also secreted fugitives. He happened to be away

from homéat the time a certain negro appeared at his deor in the even~

of History and Politics, XXIVv, 114, 110; ngg&oding and
_ ons , N : XV, 168; 1 .
Ko p2ion ’ 3 letter from .

41”& Journal af History ang Politigs, XXI1I, 427-8;
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’ iné, but the children and a noighbor'woman were there with Mras.
Garfet?on, who thought 1t wisér not to admit the black man. Instead
she sent him to hide in the peach orchard. There he took cover in
the tall grass and weeds at the foot of a tree with low hanging
branches. Scarcely had he lald down when his pursuers came and
pe@red into the windows of the house and.then walked up and down
through the aisles of the orchard. Failing to discover their man,
they took thelr departure. On the return of Hr.vGarretson he plloted
the fugitive to a hazel thicket on a ridge in the centre of Mr Hoag's
farm and kept him there until his wife and ochild could be brouwght to
him from their place of concealment. Then Nathan Kellum of New Gar-
den took the reunited family to a ravine, from which they were con-
veyed to Demmark the following night. Once Mr. Kellum found it nec~
essary to make a daylight trip along the highlay from Salem to Den-
mark, with a surry full of refugees. As they were all fully garped
as Quaker women they were not dgtectgd.s | |

The reason for conveying fugltives from Salem to Demmark was
that they might be taken from there eastward to Burlingfon to cross

the Iiaeissippi for their overland trip to Chicago and their lake
trip to Canada West. The road to Burlington was sometimes beset by

| slavehunters. Hence the descendants of the Puritans at Demmark often
sent a body of armed gnidos with their Proteges. In the absence of
gueh protection some subterfuge had often to be reéorted to in order
to get the refugees across the river. In one instance two negroes
Were placed in the” bottom of a wagon and covered with farm produce.

Tas they were enabled to cross on the same ferry with their pnrsuorl.e

SIowa iowa Journal of History and Poli;;gg XX1I, 424, 442.

6Iowa Journal o
i gigggg; and Polif;ea XXIV, 114, 119; Progogdingg
n ctio ebraska Historioa Sooiot XV 1l 3
g ™mstrong, Dec. 10, 12, 1895. Ve 07 letter from
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One of the Underground operators at Burlington was Edward Jemes,

who had served as a surgeon in the regular army. In June, 1855, Dr.

James drove into Burlington, with a nsgro beslde him, crossed the
ferry, and was stopped on the Illinois side by two slavehunters. They

alleged that the negro was Dick, a fugltive slave from Clark¢g County,
Mi{ssouri, whose owner was one Rutherford and in whose name ‘they
claimed the negro. They were armed with bowie knives and revolvers,
and accompanied Dr. James and the slave back to Burlington for court
action in the case. |

 The anti -slavery men of the town decided to rescue the slave if
the court did not set him free. Governor Grimes, who lived in Bur-
lington, interested himself in the affair by asking his brother and
eleven friends of the fugitive to be present at the trial apd render
whatever help the prisoner might need. But when the day of the hear~
1;15_: oame, Rutherford's son swore that the prisoner was not Dick. He
was therefore liberaﬁod, given the horse pistaol that had besn taken
from him, escorted by a throng of jubilant people to the ferry and
across the river by guard, where he was put on the railway train to
continue his interrupted journey to freedom.v

Salem 1s a Quaker village situated in the southeastern part of

Henry County, about twenty-eight miles from Burlington. Among its Un-
derground operators were John Comer, the Dorlands, Elilu Frazier,
Thomas Clarkson Frasier, John Garretson, D. W, Henderson, Peter Hobson,
Williem Johnson, the Mendenhalls, Paul Way, and others. While the
village received some of 1ts refugees from Demo.rit, it also sent some
there,as shown above. Croton was another source of 1ts supply as was
also Cincinnati, Iowa. Cincinnati is s village seventy miles directly
southwest, being near the Missouri boundary in Appanocose County. In

7Henry Sabin and Rawin L. Sabin, The Qﬁhg of Iowa, 246-47.
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1852, when H. B. Armstrong settled at Cincinnati, a great many

slaves were escaping from across the 1ine and being aided by him and
others. Among these were John Fulcher, Josiah Gilbert, Joel Green,

Iauther X. Holbrook, D. Icho'naldv, George Moses Robinson, a Mr. Root,
Nathaniel Stanton, and Seth B. Stanton.

From Cincinnati the route ran to the homes of William Hedgecock
and Wesley lartin,' in the northern part of Appancose County, thence
southeast to Drakeville, in Davis County; Where some of the Under-
ground 'agent’a" were Art;mr Corner, George and John Elliott, James
Hardy, Vlil;}i‘ﬁ Klinger, V:lnd Hirem Paggett. The Elliotts were Wesleyan
Nothodists o.nd ardent ndend.flj of the slave who had emigrated from
luhingfon County, Pemsylnnia. Sometimel the fuglitives were hauled
twenty~elght miles a ntugggqqt of north to Eddyville, where the
Des Moines River could be erouod by means of a toll bridge so as to
contimie the journey forty miles northout te North Engl:l-h. Ffon
there 1t was tiunty-nino miles to Iowa City, the next Underground
centre. By concealing the mgitives under hay in a covered wagon,
many could be conveyed in daylight when not closely pressed.e

About Mareh 1, 1850, two men called at George Elliott's place,
in Drakeville, under pretense of buying some fruit trees. They soon
revealed that they were from Lancaster, Missouri, and needf;ho or=
chnrdiat'a aid for a family of slaves who wished to escape to é’amdn.
It was agroed that on a certain night his callers would bo at a
designated place a few miles north of the lilsouri boundary. George
Elnotf. ’ Jr. Albert Corner, and David Hardy drove down from Drakeville
and met the family, consisting of a father, mother, and their four
chlldren, who were the chattels of a planter nsmed McQuitty. With
them they drove back, arriving on the night of Marech 8. The whole

5 . , , ‘ .
Letter from George Elliott, Jr., Nov. 18, 189S5,
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party was 'givén aubpor and rest and then started for Eddyville. In

due time the Des Moines was crossed, and the Sandridge road was fol~-
lowed north of Kirkville to Alpha English's, where the negroes

were handed over to other conductors. These cqndnctcn were Mr.
English and Alexapder Pickens and resorted to the strategy of driving
soutiwest to Blakeburg, only thirteen miles nortiwest of Drakeville.
There they changsd horses and passed on to the next station. Again

they took a fresh team and arrived that night at the house of Mr.

Durfus, near where the town of Nedrick now stands. Mr. Durfus could
not leave his threshing and sent them on three miles to an elderly

preacher, who conducted the negroes by way of Richland up to Wash-
ington. Thence they were taken on to Davenport and across the
Mississippi for the journey by the steam cars to Chiocago.

When George Elljoett, Jr. and his two companions got back from

their night's trip across the Des Moines River, they found Drake-
ville infested by slavehunters, who distributed handbills offering
a reward of $1,400 for information that would lead to the recovery
of the runaways. For days the strangers. searched fields and barns
and watched the crossings of the river up and down for a distance
of forty miles, but all to no purpoa_o.? A | _
James Milton and his half-brother, Arthur Corner, settled near
Drakeville with their families and are known to have helped fugitives.
They came from Morgan County, Ohio, where much Underground work was
done. In 1855 or thereabouts a negro was brought from Cincinnati,
Iowa, to Arthar Corner's place by John Calver. Mr. Corner delivered
him to Jacob Lam, near Iibertyville, a distance of twenty-six miles
northesst. From there the slave§ was taken to Salem. The last fugltives

known to have been passed through by this route came in March, 1860.10

® Letter from W. E. Corner, Jan. 1, 1896,
0Letter from Erastus Milton, March 16, 1896.
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It is more than likely that some fugltive slaves were sent from
Salem direct to Burlington. Others however were transported north-
east to Kossuth, then southeast five miles tb the Mississippi to cross
to Oquawke for the journey to Galesburgh, Illinois, and onward. Still
others were conveyed by a more northerly course to Pleasant Grove,
thence a 1little westwardly to Crawfordsville, and northeastward to
Muscatine or Davenport. So far as known the route through Kossuth
to Oquawka was seldom used. BEarly in the 1840's a slave was es-
corted from Salem to Kossuth, where he sperid a week in the barn of
Frederick Heizer. He was then guided by Mr. Heizer and John McClure
by way of Oquawka to Galesburg. After reporting to the Rev. George
Gale, the conductors delivered their charge to men going to Chicago.
Sevorai later deliveries were offected in the same way.n

Groups of fugltives were brought into Salem from time to time
in a closed carriage and fed in an open lot in the rear of the Con-
gregational Chureh and John Garretson's home, on the south side of
the square. Then they entered ths carriage again, which belonged to
Mr. Garretson, and \_v_ere._driven_ away.]_'z ‘
It 18 gsaid that Elilu Frazier, of Salem, went to Missouri on a
mission in the interest of some slaves, was seized by patrols, and was
strung up to make him confess the nature of his errand. As nothing
pertinent could be got from his, he was released and allowed to re turn
home . '

At least one fugitive was concealed in the hotel at Salem kept
by D. W, Henderson. Peter Hobson undertook the delicate task of

spiriting him away. Evidently to that end Peter's wife Rachel was in

11 » :
Letter from Morris W. Blair, Jan. 22 ;
and Politics, XXII, 424, 428, ' 1896; Iowa Journal of Hist

12Tpg4a., 440.
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the hotel on a Sunday morning and was ocalled for by her lmsband,
with his buggy, to go to meeting. Instead, the slave: in the outfit
of a Quakeress entered the vehicle and was driven to the woods on
Fish Cxie'ok, four miles northesst of Salem, and detained there until

hs could be moved to another station, probably Mount Pleasent .13
Release of 3laves of Ru at Salem

In the summer of 1848 some of the ‘men of Salem became involved
in a rescue of mglttvé slaves for which they were prosecuted. Nine

of the sixteen human chattels of Ruel Daggs fled from his farm in
Clarke County, Midsouri, on account of his reported intention to sell

them South. Early in June they escaped to the lonely dwelling of
Dick Leggens and a free negro, Sam Webster, which was located in a
dense woods south of the Des Moines River. A heavy rain compelled
them to stay there an extra day o.nd‘p:cr‘t of that nsh.ght:.r Leggens then
conducted them to the flooded river, helped them to bulld a raft, and ‘
after some delay landed them on 1ts north bank not far from Farmington.
‘Thence they passed on to the vicinity of snem_.' thy to be captured
in the bushes & mile{ south of the village by two slavemunters. v
They were being led away by their captors, when Elim Frasier,
Thomas Clarkson Frasier, and William Johnson came up and insisted
that the whole party go to Salem for & hearing before Justice Gibbs.
Upon objection being offered by the slavelunters, one of the Quakers
momentarily discarded his principles of non-resistance and declared
that "he would wade in Missouri blood before the negroes should be
taken." At the edge of the town the citizens joined the procession to
the justice's office in the "great house" of Henderson Lewelling. The
size of the crowd compelled the adjournment of the court to ﬁhe ;noe;-

13 |
Iowa Journal of History and Polities, XXII, 424.




71

ing-house, where the case was dismissed when the captors admitted

that they had no warrant.

Apparently some of the freed negroes were hidden in Salem, but
two of them took advantage of Paul Way's invitation.,to follow him
and were put astride horses for the purpose. The slavemnters also
left the village, their mood expressing itself in threats of vengeance.
A few days later a body of armmed Missourians appeared and searched the
houses, beginning with that of Thomas Fragier. Warned ahead, Mr.
Frazier was able to empty his house of the fugitives 1t containedaand
cbnceal them in a nearby woods. The Missourians found the family at
" dinner and received permission to conduct their search. lieithor here
nor in the other homes visited were any negroes diacovered.l}

In June, 1850, Mr. Daggs brought suit against a number of the
Salem men for damages amounting to nearly $3,000 in the federal court
at Burlington, the charges being harboring his slaves and preventing
their capture in violation of the Fugitive Slave Law of 1793. The
case dragged on from tem to term. Judge J- J. Dyer instructed
the jury to inveitig'ate ths case with unbiased minds and a sincere
desire to render their verdict in accordance with the law and the
evidence submlitted to them. He also reminded them thag they were to
deal with the law and the Constitution as they were md not as they
thought they ought tg¢ be. After being out an hour or two, they return-

ed the verdict of guilty and awarded the plaintiff damages in the sum
of ’2.900.15

14 |
Palimpeest, II, No. § (May, 1921), 121.

15%;‘["‘4;:;“1."‘1 of History and Politices, XXII, 430-2, 437, 439, 440,
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The Underground Tra Muscatin

The nérthoaat route out of Salem ran eleven miles to the home
of Professor L. L. Howe, three and @ half miles east of Mount Pleas ~
ant. Professor Howe was a graduate of Ohio University, at Athens,
and had conducted an academy at Lancaster, O'hio, in which William T.
and John Shermen had been pupils. In the autumn of 1841 he removed
to Iowa and- settled near Mount Pleasant. He was an ardent abolition-
ist and helped Imndreds of slaves to freedom, furnishing teams, pro-
visions, and sometimes generous contributions of money to carry on
the work. Time and again his 1life was in peril, and some of his prop-
erty was destroyed by pro-slavery men. Once in Mount Pleasant a
mob attacked and injured him to such an extent thqt his life was des-~

paired of. In 1849 he became a stockholder in and the editor of the
only Free Soil paper publishsed west of the Mississippi River, namely,

the Iowa Frgeman. In the following year he became its sole proprie-~
tor and so remained until 1858, during which time its name was the

Free Dgmocrat. In 1856 two of his sons fought in Kansas under John

Brown, and d\u"ihg the Civil War three of them and two sons-in-law

16
served in the Union Amy.

Professor Howe's place was on the direct route north to Craw-
fordsville, which also received passengers from Waihington, at which
two routes from the southwest convergesd. One of these routes came
from R:lchland gﬁd Clay and the other from Birmingham by way of Fairp-
field and Pleasant Plain. Hence the traffic from Crawfordsville
northeastward by way of Columbus City to lm_lcatino Was very heavy.
Some of the fugltives arriving at Crawfordsville were afforded refuge
in the top story of Samuel Ranldn's large, three-story, freme house

16Letter from Prof. W. R. Howe, March 16, 1896.
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at the southeast corner of the square. Samuel Rankin was assisted
by Walker Rankin in ocaring for them, their largest mumber at ons time
being seven. Allen Stalker was gconductor from Fairfield to Richland
or to Pleasant Plain, as the case might be, the journey from those

places to CNy and on to Washington being under the guidance of

Manning Mills and Henry Morgan. Prom Washington to Crawfordsville

 John and Martin C. Kilgore were in ohargo.17

On a trip with a load of refugses in a covered wagon from Clay

to Washington Henry Morgan was about to drive on the ferry boat to
cross Skunk River when a slave owner rode up to look into the wagpn.

The quiefwit of Mr. Morgan saved the day. He yelled, "We've got
smallpox in there," which so dampened the curiosity of the rider
that he wheeled and sped nny.m |
Out of Crawfordsville nine miles fugltives wers delivered to

Colonel Bailey, at Columbus.City, who the following night took them
on twenty-one miles to Muscatine. There Colonel Rankin was in charge
and saw that the TUnAwWays were, as a rule, hidden in the loft of

" the House of All Nations . which at one time accommodated as many
as t:h:lx'i:.oen-]'9 Another operator at Muscatine was Dr. Van Pelt. In
1855 a negro came to his place and was kept in a cornfield for six
weeks . The master came and put up an advertisement on the gate post
offering #1,60Q for his capturs, but got no reeponse. One night

the slave was conveyed to Davenport and across the Mississippl to Roek
Island. There he was provided with passage on the cars to Ohioago.go

o8 » II 450; letter from William

E. Walker, lareh 24, 1896. o

18I owa Journal of History apd ggg_ II, 451.
19101 4., 452.

20Letter from J. A. Jolly, April 8, 1896.



74

- -

In 1843 Muscatine had a population of about seven ndred, with
a considerable pro-slavery element. Most of ths abolitionists seem to
have belonged to ths Congregational cturch, whose membership then mume
bersd only twenty-four. The pastor of thﬁ churdh was Alden B. Rob~
bins, a young man who had graduated from Amherst College and the And=~
over Theological Seminary, both in western Massachusetts. He and his
flock first ocoupled their new brick church on December 8, 1844, the
woodsn belfry of which was at the rear of the structure, inciting the
ungodly to speak of it as "the Stoarn-lhbol ohurch.” As Mr. Robbins
sometimes preached anti-slavery sermons, the pro-slaveryites called it
ei ther 'thp da.nnod Yankee Church" or expressed thelr opinion of its
convictions and activities ummistskably by the title, "Uncle Tom's
Cabin."?? S -

About; fifteen miles west of Croton fugitives entered Van Buren
County and passed twelve miles up to the negro settlement at or near
Mount 2Zion, a little above Kecsaugua, the seat of the county, and thence
eight or nine miles to Birmingheam, where there were stations in communi:
cation with four 'nbolit_ionista living near Buker, 'eightoen miles far-
ther north, in the northern part of Jefferson County. These aboli tion-
ists were Samuel Gould and his son Ebenezer, Peter Goosebeck, and David
Lindsay, all of whom had removed from Reynoldsburg, Ohlo, to their new
location in the 1840's. The most notable exploit of ths Goulds, so
far as known, was & trip they made into Missouri, from which after stay-
ing three days they brought a slave family.’? As the Goulds and their
fellow-Ohioans 1ived only three miles southeast of Clay, and six miles
west of Pleuqnt Plain, all Underground centres » they could easily |
Pass their fugitives through one or another of those places to Washing-
ton, whence they would be transported to Muscatine or Davenport.

- | |
_llowa Journal of History and Politics, XXI, 349.

221 nt '
nterview with A. W, Isvingaton, Columbus, 0., in 1895.
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The county just wéat. of Van Buren is Davis, where, in 1850, H.
B. Wagers was 1living close to the Missouri border. Making frequent
business trips into the slave state, he became known among ths slaves
and often they knocked at his door. He admitted them, gave them a
couple of days' rest, and drove them thirty miles in his wagon to Mr.
Wilson's, near Ottumwa. Thence they were forwarded north. In the
early light of morning a msband, wife, and three children arrived
at ¥r. Wager's house, with word that their master was in pursult.
Scarcely had they been hidden in a corner of the attic when their
statement was verified by his arrival at the gate, with the sheriff.
The men asked the family whether they had seen any "niggers" pass
that morning. Thep answered "No" and invited the riders in for break-
fast, at the aame time telling them that the negroes must have taken
the road a half-mile farther east. Needless to say, the alavehunton
a1d not come in, but galloped on.23 | |

In Ottumwa itself Josish H. Myers, Joseph Wagg, and Dr. C. C.
Warden were Underground operators. Mine miles east of there is Ageney,
where J. W, Millisack kept a station, and fourteen miles farther east

18 Fairfield, which had Underground connections south, southwest, and
mrth.24

Routes of the Fourth Tier of Counties, East of Des loiml

Thirteen miles northeast of Des Moines lies Mi tchelville, which
is named after its founder, the Hon. Thomas ¥itchell, who superintend-

ed the Underground work there and sent fugitives thirty-four miles

farther on to the town of Grinnell. In conducting this traffic mes-

 sages were somstimes passed to J. B. Grinnell, of which the following
is a samples

23 b o
RQﬁtto.r from H, B. Wagers, April 11, 1896.
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"Dear Grinnells--Uncle Tom says if the roads are not too bad |
you can look for those fleeces of wool by to-morrow. Send them on
to test the market-price, and no back charges.

| Yours, Hub 225

Fifteen miles beyond Mitchelville is Newton, the seat of Jasper
County. Many persas of that county aided in the escape of fugitives.
Newton,was, of course, on the main route to Grinnell, Iowa City, Spring-
dale, De Witt, and Clinton. Joseph Arnold, an Underground conductor,
tells that while Matthew Sparks and he were returning from Newton on
Rovember 4, 1857, they plcked up three fugltives who had escaped from
the Cherokee Nation and had the names of Sparks and Arnold on a plece
of soiled paper. These fugltives said they were headed for Lynn
Grove and were taken fourteen miles southeast to Lynnville. Iwo miles
northeast of that village is the Kenworthy Quaker settlement, which
partioipatod in Undargfonnd operations. At Lynnville, C. B, White
sheltered the three fugitives in his house and forwarded them eleven
miles northeast to G:-irmell.26 '

In the same year a negro father, mother, and small child were
brought to Mr. Arnold, who kept them until daylight, conveyed them a
few miles east to North ak&nk River, ferried them across, and delivered
them to Jarvis Johnson. The next night they were leqt""f; Grinnell.

In April, 1859, three fugltives passed thm'qgﬁ"'vlcwton on their
way to freedom. However, as time passed, they ocame in bands. For
example, on Augast 13, 1860, fifteen slaves who had escaped from Mis-

souri and Kansas and filled two Wagons were escorted by about the same

_— - K .
CAR Grinneﬁil AD( v s o ,5217; W. H, Siebert,
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mmber of armed whi te men on horseback through Newton. One of the

whi tes was Barclay Coppoc, who had been with John Brown at Harpers
Ferry and barely escaped the fate suffered by his comrades, one of
whom was his Brother Edward. For several hours they sncamped a short
distance from town and then resumed their joumsy. On the same day an-
other mrty of ‘negi'ool, mmbering mMneteen, passed a few miles south of
Newton.2"7 o

One night in 1862 Sylvia Hutchins and four other salves--two men,

a young woman, and a child--escaped from Ray County, Missouri, to _
join a party of thirty seekers for freedom. They reached Kingston,

Decatur County, where there was a recruiting station for Union sol-
diers . There all of the men but two elderly ones enlisted, and the

MQn roﬁnd work. On August 1, 1862, Sylﬂa and three of the other
women weat into Indianola, Warren County. They had been thrown into
jail twice, but each time had been secretly released by the soldiers.

As a boy of thirteen years, M. A. McCord drove wagons of mer-
chandise between Iowa City and Newton before the Rock Island Railroad
reached the latter place. Many a night he hauled fugi tive slaves
from one station to another in their search for employment. Mr.
McCord relates that twenty-eight of these refugees were in Newton dur-
ing the first years of the Civil War, that some of them enlisted and
the others went on farms near Wittemburg. At the same timé some
colored people settled in the northern part of Newton, where they had
comfortable homes and a chm-tsh.28

Grinnell lies thirteen miles east of Newton and i1s includediin
the eastern section of Iowa which was opened to the occupancy of white
people in 1843. Grinnell is close to the western boundary of Poweshiek

ry of Jasper County, Iowa, re rinted f
Record, July 1, 1926. » TOp rom the Jas Count

2830wton Daily News, Dec. 18, 192s6.
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contalned five hundred white residents. When Grinnell was settled,

in 1854, central and western Iowa was merely dotted by a few hamlets
of white men and seamed by winding paths along prairie ridges and
through bridgeless streams. From the beginning Grinnell was an anti-
slavery centre which became well known to and eagerly sought by ruiu.n-
way slaves. Its most active Underground workers were Josish B. .
Grinnell, the founder of the town, Amos§ Bixby, Harvey Bliss, Elter
T, Brande, Colonel 8. F. Cooper, Philo Parks, the Baileys, and the
Harrigses. Usually the slaves were sheltered in kr. Grinnoll'a house
and barn, the house being provided with a "liberty room" for that
purpose, and in Colonel Cooper's house and cellar. Several fugltives

' were also cared for by Homer Hamlin. Mr. Grinnell's notoriety as a

friend of the slaves led to the offer of a reward for his head. That
fact however did not dampen his enthusiesm in the iork'a_a is shown
by the following note, which he sent on August 15, 1860, to Williem
Penn Clarke, at Iowa Citys

* Pomo rrew 'or next day there will be a company of 20 odd persons
well armed passing on’to Springdale.

"If they are to be troubled I trust they may have a fair warn:lvng.‘{‘)G

In March, 1860, four slave "boys" from Missourl were attending
the pﬁblic school at Grinnell. At the anmal meeting of the school
district a motion was made to exclude colored pupils, but was voted
down. Next mornming two angry men appesred at the school room, only
to be told by the teacher, L. F. Parker, that he would defend every
Pupll rightfully there. The intruders hastened away to keep the "boya"

from reaching the school yard, but found themselves surrounded by an

excited crowd when they met the “boys," who threatensd to defend them-

gselves with pistols. This was the nearest Grinnell came to an outbreak

291-etter from Prof. L., F. Parker, Aug. 30, 1894; Iowa Journal o

and Politios, X, 380. XXV, 44; Palippsest, II, No. 5, 129, '




e P P - e e e e o e "t

79

of violence. After the term closed a sea-captain, who had objected
to the presence of the‘_"boya' in the school, published in a Saint

Louis paper a description of the fugitives in Grinnell, after which

30
the "boys" and a colored girl disappeared.

The Sripment of John Brown and His Abducted Negroces
to Chicago as Freight

When John Brown and some of his men were driving east, in Feb-
ruary, 1859, with twelve slaves they had abducted from Missouri, they
stopped with Mr. Grinnell. The fugltives slept in the "liberty room"
and the arms of Brovyn and his guard were stacked there. The author=
ities of Missouri had offered a reward of $3,000 for the apprehension
of the party, and this offer stimulated Samuel Workman, the post-
master of Iowa City, to make plans for their capture. Already the
United States marshal at Davenport had a warrant for Brown's arrest.
From Grinnell the 0ld Libersator and his party had moved on to Pedse,
near Springdale, and were there when Mr. Grinnell took steps to pre-
vent their gotting into trouble, his purpose being to remove them from
Iowa to Chicago. Hence he went to Chicago to secure the use of a box
car, but was unable to obtain pomasioh from the superintendent for
the transportation of the negroes over his line. However, the super-
intendent gave Mr. Grinnell a draft fop $50 to essist Brown and his
party.

As soon as Brown learned the outcome of Mr. Grinnell's erf;ru',
he went to Iowa City and told William Penn Clarke, who proceeded to

Davenport to try his hand. He was accompanied by L. A, Duncan, of the

Iowa City Re publican, and these two induced Colonel 8. ¢, Trowbridge

"’oLetter from Prof. L. F. Parker, as above.
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to promote Brown's escape from Dr. Bowen'l_ house and from Iowa City,
so that Brown could return to Pedee. Colonel. Trowbridge outwitted the
grards of Postmaster Workman, who were to seize Brown in the morning,
and aocompaniod"the 0ld Abolitionist back to the Pedee settlement.

Karly that merning Mr. clark; took the train for Davenport and
obtained from Hiﬁm Price, the secretary of the ralilroad, a letter of
introduction to its assistant superintendent. Already Mr. Grinnell
had sent Mr. Clarke the draft for $60. With these two doouments,
he came to West Liberty, a village fifteen miles east of Iowa City
and a reliable Underground centre, where Brown and his party were
now hiding in Keith's o0ld grist mill, and showed them to the local
agent of the railroad, who supplied the box car. Thus Brown, his
men, and the negroes were all shipped as freight to Chicago, the
charges being paid out of the sups rintendent's _dra_rt.al N

Nine miles east of Iowa City is West Branch, which was settled
in the early 1850's by Eli Hoover, David and Leurie Tatum, James
Townsend, and other Quakers on the west branch of Wapsiononoe Creek.
This settlement became at once a convenient stopring place for fugl -~
tives on their way east via Springdale, which is but three miles
farther on. One time lLaurie Tatum set out with a load of runaways
for Mechanicsville, eighteen miles north. At Gray's Ford across the
Cedar River his wagon stuck in a bed of quicksand, making it ne cessary
for him to ask help at the nearut‘houu. The man who rolbondod sug~
gested that they unjoad, but Mr. Tatum objected. Then the man asked
what he had in his wagon, and Mp. Tatum, looking him straight in the
©ye, replied with a double meaning, "meat and wool." Wi thoﬁt further

discussion, they got a fence rail, paised the wagon to firmer ground,
and the journey was continued.>®

3 , A
llgvu Journal of History and Politics, XXV, 42-44.
S2Palimpsest, Vol. 9, 247.
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Mrs. Varney, also of West Branch, admitted to her house one Sun-
day afternoon a negress and her two ¢hildren, one white and one blaek,
who were the soms of her master. He was following them on horseback
not far behind, beating down the tall grass of the swamp with his whip
in search of them. The mother remarked that they were rendered con-
spicuous by her white boy, whereupon ¥rs. Varney brewed a pot of very
strong tea and stained the boy's visible parts a brown color. They

were then given a hearty meal and sent on their way as soon as 1t

was safe .‘53

We have already seen that Springdale was a centre of Undsrground
activity. One of 1ts active workers was John Painter. A little to
the west of Springdale was Pedes, which had been settlsd by Presby-
terians in the 1840's. Then the Quakers came and formed a settlement
nearby, which received a post office in 1851 under the name of Spring--
dale. Three miles northwest of this village William Maxon built a
house, which still stands. Mr. Maxon was not a Quaker by birth, tut
had been reared under the influence of the Soclety of Friends and
certainly shared in his nmeighbors’ antipathy to slavery. He made a
practice of keeping slaves in his basement, which had a fire-plaéo
to keep 1t comfortable in the winter. There fugl tives often remalned
until enough money could be collected to send them on. klany ne groes
found refuge in and near Springdsle St

One one ocecasion Mr. Maxon decided to put some proteges in sacks
and ship them by rail as potatoes. The freight agent had not been ad~-
mitted to the secret, being supposed to be of hostile sentiments, but

Ccwv

was present when the sacks were loaded into the box"and heard a snesze

issue from one of them. Mr. Maxon hwld his peace with difficulty, tut

the agent seemed to take no notice and the sacks were shipped.35
EE:bldO’ 2480

54Irv1ng B. Richman, John Brown #l_: ong the Quakers apd Other Skegshgs,
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Six miles south of Springdale is West Idberty, which was another

headquarters of the Underground Railroad. Being on the Chiocago, Rock
Island, and Pacific Railroad, fugitives were often put on board the
cars there for quick transit to Davenport and diagonally acposs
Illinois to Lake lichigan.ss

The Routes to the Terminal at Clinton

At Iowa City the most prominent helpers of fugzitives were William
Penn Clarke and Dr. Jesse Bowen. The house of the latter was on
Iowa Ayermue between Govenor and Summit streets.

Eas tward from the city there were two lines of traffic, one ex-
tending ten miles to West Branch and three miles farther to Springdale,

a Quaker settlement, whence there was a stretch of nearly forty miles
to De Witt, followed by one of ten to Low Moor and another of the same
length to Clinton. A few miles north of Clinton is Lyons, which seems
to have served as a terminal in cases of mermncy.37

The other 1line out of Iowa City ran twenty-three miles northeast
to Tipton, where there was a station in the ‘outsk:lrts of the village.
Tipton was also connected with Springdale and West ILiberty to the
south, 1ts nearest station in that direction-~the Humphrey home--being
two and a half miles out. There whole families or groups frequently
remained over night. lext’morning Grandfather Humphrey would drive
them fifteen miles northeast to Posten's Grove, where they would be
transferred to other conductors for the trip to DeWitt, twenty-odd
miles east. Prominent agents at DeWitt were Captain Burdette, Judge
Grahsm, and Mrs. J. D. Stillman.

At Low Moor the traffic was handled by Abel A. Gleason, J. B,
Jones, Lawrence Mix, Nelson 0lin, B. R. Palmer, G. W. Wes ton, and

z"Slﬂetzt:or from J. R. Walton, Nov. 4, 1896.
SVPannant, I1, ¥o. 5, 18
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others. Among these Mr. Weston, a New Hampshire man, seems to have

been general manager in placing the runaways, gathering needed pro-
visions and funds, and regulating the departure of passengers. One

occasion it was necessary to notify the men at Clinton of their being
forwarded so that proper arrangements could be made for them to oross
the Mississippi. The following communication from G. W, Weston, of
Low Moor, to C. B. Campbell, at Clinton, is typicals _

" Low Moor, May 6, 1859.

“Mp. C. B, C.s

Dear Sir--By to-morrow evening's mail, you will receive two
volumes of the 'Irrepressible Conflict,' bound in Blagk. After
perusal, please forward, and oblige,

G. w, w38

Trusted friends of the station-keepers were occasionally invited
to the house of one or another of them to hear the thrilling aton;l of
the escape and unaided travel of the fugitives on the premises before
they had reached the Underground Railroad, and perhaps of the adroit

methods used by their abolition friends in evading their pursuers.
Such recitals served to stimulate the zeal of the listeners.

dmong the last fugitives who passed through Clinton County was
a party of nine who ceme just before the beginning of the Civil War.
This party comprised three men, besides a husband, wife, and their four
chlldren. Twice before the msband had attempted to free his family
and now was determined to go through, belng fully armed. After a
short stay in Clinton the party was ferried across the river.

Despite the good work being accomplished in the town of Clinton,
very few people in the county at large were disposed toc:oporate.on
their-way. Even in the town the anti-slavery cause met with disfavor
in some quarters. A. T. Foss, an agent of the Massachusetts Anti-

SEJ B. Gr1 ‘ .

. B, nnell, Men end nts of Forty Years, 207; W. H

Underground Railroad from Slavery to Freedom ,’108;’letter
Eaton, Apri1 8, 1696,

Siebert,
from Orland
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Slavery Soclety, is said to have lectured there seversl times “under
discouraging circumstances.”" HNevertheless his loocal friends induced
him to lecture in the flourishing little town of Comanche. After the

Baptist church had been engaged and handbills pottcd, Mr. Foss and a
friend made their appearance, but found that the sexton had no inten=~

tion of opening the church. Going to the hotel, they were threatened
with violence and thought it wise to leave the place. A
Othor operators in Clinton were G. W. Brindell, H. Iesli.e,
T. Savane, and W. B. Star. ; “ v
Mr. Campbell appears to have usually had the responsibility of
placing the fugitives on their arrival in Clinton. Frequently he kept
them in the attic of his small, frame house, wWhich stood near the cor~

ner of Sixth Avemue and Second Street, within a stone's throw of the .
Uni ted States maﬁhal'l_ residence. At other times they were put in the
garret of the house occupied by Andrew and J. R. Bather, or in a cave,
used as a cellar, in their garden. A fugitive and his wife were hid-
ing in their garret, when a message was received from De Witt that
slavehunters wers hot on their trail. Andrew Bather lost no time in
borrowing a carriage from H. P. Stanley and taking them up to Lyons.
Thi ther they had been preceded by Mr. Campbell, who had a skiff ready
for the couple and ferried them across the Missippi despite the
floating 1ce .39

In the eastern section of Iowa, which was more thickly settled

than the central and western parts, the Underground station-kteepers
and conductors were under ths necessity of exercising great care to a-

void detection. Sometimes passengers remained at a station for days
until a convenient opportunity offered for them to be forwarded.‘o

39pa11 t, II, ¥o. 5, 136.

40In1g.
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A Route to Dubuque in the Sixth Tier of Counties

Thi rty-four miles north of Grinnell, in the southsrn part of
Grundy County, the house of C. F. Clarkson was a haven for escaping
slaves where many of them were ocared for. Among them wes one who had
cravled into a haystack and been found early one morning by the Clark-
son boys because his boots stuck out. He was taken on his way, but '
in what direction or to what stations we are not informed.il

Probably it ran northeast and then east through Black Hawk,
Buchanan, 'Delawaro, and Dubuque counties to the é:lty of Dubuque, on the
Mississippi Biver. It would seem from an article in the Mjidland Month-
h‘%hm: in Buchanan County an Underground agent called Charley lived
in s town (not named), to the south and west of which are Quaker
settlements. From the settlement to the west of it a Quaker brought
a fugitive one night and asked Charley to take him on to Dubuque. Sick
ness in the house prevented ecompliance with the request, at the
Quaker was directed to a reliable agent living on the right hand side
of the road just across a stream four and half miles farther on.

Nearly a fortmight later a rough fellow, who 1ived on the left side of
the road at that point, called at Charley's store and told him of the
visit of the Quaker whorhad been sent and of his surprise at the mis~
sion he was asked to undertake. However, he had invited his callers
in, fed them and their horses, and kept the bl g negro, who was as"black
as tar,” in a side room t1ll the following night. Then he hitched up
and drove with the negro to Dubuque and delivered him to the man te
whom he had been directed. He told Charley that he was a Demoorat,

had never engaged in Underground work before, and explained that he
could not withstand the “pleading look" in the negro's eyes .

413 a1and Monthly, II, 264.
42v51. 3, pp. 479-80.
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CHAPTER VI
JOHN BROWN a0 HIS MEN IN IOWA,
OUTOBKR, 1856, AND ILATsR

One day in October, 1858, there rodo into the village of West
Branch, lowa, an elderly man weary and travel-stained. He made his
way to the only tavera, over the entrance teo which hung the signm,
“The Travelers: Rest,” kept by the Quaker, James Fownsend. Omn
dismounting the old man asked his host, “Have yeu ever heard of
sohn Brown of aansasy“ ihe tavern-keeper, “without roplying,took
from his vest pocket & plece of chalk and, removing Brownis hat,
marked it with a large X; he then replaced the hat and solemmnly
decorsted the back of Brown:s coat with two large X marks; last~
1y, he placed an X on the back of the mule." +This pantomime was
an indicatien that Brewn and his animal were on the free list of
the tavorn.]'

it 1s certain that during Brownis brief stay in west Branch
he heard of Springdsle and of the strong anti-slavery sentiment of
its shrewd, thrifty Juaker population, for thereafter this villags
became one of his places of frequent resort. On Jumuary 7, 1857,
Brown visited Buxton, Canada west, where he was made the agent eof
the massachusetts~-nansas state Committee to receive twe hundred
Sharpis rifles, then stored in 'l'abor, Jowa. <chese rifles had
been shipped west by that committee in august to be used by the
free~state settlers. <hey had get as far as Tabor,put for reasons
unknown to the committee had got ne farther.
T
0. G. Villard, John Brown nfty__garl After, 312
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Captain Brown bought pikes and on april 1 met nugh Forbes,
an ftalian-anglican swordsman and drillmester, whom he hired te¢o
go to Tabor and 4rill the squad of men he proposed to assemble
there on his return to the west. rorbes was to receive 3100 a
month, and at the time of their meeting Brown handed him 6800 to
bind the bargaine rorbes had served under waribaldi in 1848-9
and since coming to america had eked out an existence by acting
as a translator for the New York Tribune and by giving fencing

lessons. oOn April 13, 1857, Brown left for the West, but did

not reach sabor until august. ‘taboris importance lay in its ine
tense anti-slavery sentiment and its proximity to the xansas -
rerridory. In 1856 the missourians had clesed the route for
Nerthern immigrants into aansas by way of saint Louis and the
aissouwri Kiver, whereupon James ne Iane, with the aid of certain
massachusetts men, had opened a new route through iowa and Neb~
raska, with 1rabor and Nebrakka vity as its Western termini. une
of the parties of free-state settlers which followed this route
in the year mentioned was led by Colonel kldridge. ‘tThey had
started without arms~-~some of them from as far away as maine--
having been promised weapons when they should reach Albany, then
Buffalo, next Cleveland, and finally Chicago. On arriving at ra-
bor they were still defenseless and were about to mutiny. With
difficulty, they were persusded to go forward. it was doubtless
the experience of this party which influsnced the massachusetts~
aansas State committee to send to the west the two hundred Sharpis
rifles. On their arrival in Tabor these rifles were stored in the



barn of the Rev. John Todd, the Congregational Minister of the
place, to await a favorable opportuni ty to be smuggled into Kan-
sas. Such an opportunity had presented itself when, in August,
185'7,'_Brown c,a.ﬁe with an order for thse arms from the Massachusetts
committee. They were promptly given into his care by Mr. Todd,
and on August 13 Browh wrote to Frank B, S8anborn, at Concord,
Massachusetts: "I find the arms and ammunition voted me by the
Massachusetts State Committee nearly all here and in middling or-
der--some a little rusted. Have overhauled .and cleaned up the
worst of them." |

On August ® Hugh Forbes arrived after having spent all the -
$600 given him by John Brown. He brought with him the mamal of
tactics he had prepared and began to give military instruction to
Brown's men. At first Brown thought Forbes "a very cspable leader," |
but later changed his mind and Forbes left for the East on Nov-
ember 2. This compelled Brown to give up his school of military
tactics, and he went to Kansas to assemble more men, who went
to Tabor. Toward the last of November Brown and his party left
for Ashtabula, Ohio, bat not until he had told Jonas Jones, of
Tebor, to whose care his letterghad come and in whose house the
military lessons had been given, "We've had enough talk about
'bleeding Kansas.' I will make a bloody spot at another point
to be talked about." Phis was his only reference to his Martin's
Ferry exped:lt;ion.2

It was on the long, wintry journey to Springdale, with two
wagons laden with the Sharp's rifles and ammunition that the details
of the Virginia venture were gradually discussed. The caravan

2
Richman, John Brown Among the Quakers, 11-22.
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left the friendly village of rabor on vecember 4, according te
the diary of uwen Brown, on the way te “Iows City, Springdale
and Ohio.* Progress was slow for all of the men walked, and the
westher was bitter cold. ‘rthey camped by the wayside, avoiding
towns as much as possible, and mmde up in warmth of debate feor
the Reat they otherwise lacked. their discussions ranged over a
wide field, including the Bible and war, the probable effects
. of the abolition of slavery upon the lorthl#nﬁ Southern states,
upon commerce and manufactures, and upen the British provinces and
the oivilized world, the origin of eur civildsation, the prejudice
against color, and which was the greater general, Washingtom or
Napoleon. On Christmms uay they reached marenge, a town about
thirty miles from iowa (ity, and reached upringdale about vecem~
ber 28> |

Among the early residents oi’ Springdale, a Quaker village, '
were vohn . rainter, whof came in 1849, ur. H. C. Gill, who came
in 1850, and Ann Coppoc. buring the next few yeams many settlers
arrived, most of them Quakers, so that when the place was visited
~ by Brown and his band in 1857 it was a thriving settlement. It
was not Brownis intention to stop long st springdale, but the
panic of that year had made money scarce, and he was nearly out
of funds and unable to raise any. Under these circumstances he
dociﬁod to ipond the winter there, being more than welcome. pis
men were given quarters in the house of William maxon, three

T ,
00 GO vtn‘m’ °E. cit., 311-18.



miles northeast of the village. As maxon was not a Quaker, the
responsibility for housinj armed men was avoided by the Quaker
community. However Brown us‘rocoived into the house of the good
Quaker, vohn ne rainter, who became one of his most staunch and
confidential friends. ‘the time spent in Springdale weas one of
genuine pleasure to Brownis men.

aaron ue Stephens (C. Whipple) was appointed drill master,
| and a daily routine of drill and military study was insisted up-
one russday and rriday evenings were reserved for the proceedings
of a mock legislature. One of the sons of Mr. saxon served in
this body as & member from Cedar County./ In & letter of vume 1,
1892 ,ure H. C. uill wrote that sometime toward spring Brown
cams to his house and told hil plans for the future. He had not
then decided to attack the armory at narpers rerry, but intended
to take from fifty to a hundred men te the hills near the ferry
and remain there until he could collect & large number of slaves
and then take what conveyances were needed to transport the negroes
and their families to Canada. in & short time after the excitement had
abated he would make & strike in some other Southern state. ur.
uill 414 his best to convince Brown that the probabilities were
that all would be killed. the 0ld emancipator replied that fer
himself he was willing to give his 1life for the slaves. He told
Ure uill repeatedly that he believed himself an instrument in
the hands of uod for the abolition of slavery. <he doctor insist-
ed that Brown and his handful of men could not cepe with the
whole South, but he declared that it would be the beginning of the
oend of all.vory.‘
T
Richmen, op. cit., 28-30.



While Brown and his men were staying in Springdale, Barclay
and sdwin Coppec, two young men of strong charscter were living
there with their mother. Barclay, the younger, had previously
made the acqQuaintance of Brown in xansas, and the two brothers
were strongly anti-slavery , and although as Quakers they had
been taught that it was wrong to carry firearms they entered
Brown's pu'ty.5

Brown himself did not spend the winter in Springdsle. He
went xast, but returned onm April 27, 1858, with some funds in
hand gnd more promised and fave orders for the expedition to
march. its immediate destination preved to be Chathem, Cansda

Iost‘. 17he Coppoecs did not accompany it, but joined later. The
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enly new men who went with Brown were ueorge B. uwill and Stewart

Taylor, & young Cantdian. On reaching Chatham, plans were made
for a constitutional convention and af stay of ten days or two

weeks. Ietters were at once written to uerrit sSmith, wendell

Phillips, and other men of like kin to meet Brown and his little

force there on may 8 for the asdoption of the oconstitution, te
decide a few other matters, and say good bye. the signals and
mode of writing had all been arranged.

At the convention o, 4y g Brown was made commander=ine

chief, xagl secretary of war, and veorge B. uill secretary of

the tre,uury. Neantime Bugh rorbes had written many letters to

Frank B. Sanbora, ur. Ssmuel u. Howe, and Theodore Parker
threatening to tell all he knew of Brown:s plans. Brown was

P
Palimpsest, vol. 9, 3ub-7.
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summoned to New york by his friends and arrived there on may 22.
On the 24th at a conference in Boston he was told to go back te
Kansas & was given money for that purpose. nence he could not

g0 on with his plan to invade virginia, and his men separated.
Realf went to New i0ork to stop the mouth of rorbesi Gill returne
ed to iowa; and Cook went to Harpers rerry and took nete of every-
thing. On Nay 6 Cook had written from Chatham that he fancied

he could always see the dawning light of freedom, but ere that day
should arrive he feared the crash of the battle shock and the
gleam of the cannon's lightning.

Funds were not forthecoming from Brown:s friends in the xast.
He wrote to his men and cautioned them against revealing them~
selves, their plans, or their arms. He sald that he was negotiat-
ing and would keep them posted. In February, 1859, Brown and a
few of his followers were again in Springdale, this time with
twelve abducted negroes, preparatory to taking them through
to Canada. The account of this incident has been given in Chap-
ter V of this thesis.

By July 3 of this year Brown and his sons Oliver and Owen
were at Harpers rerry, where they found Cooke On the 15th Brown
wrote to xdwin and Barclay Coppoc at Springdale to join him at
Chambersburg, rennsylvania. Ten days later Barclay teld his
mother that they were going to start fer Ohio that day, dbut she
said they were "3oing with old Brown" and would think of her
when they had halters round their mmlu.6

Richman, op cit., 48~50.
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moses varney, & Quaker of Springdale, had heard that Brown
was mditating an attack on narpers rerry and was much distraught.
a friend of varney, aA. L. Smith of Buiffalo, New york, was then
visiting his cousins, Benjamin r. and bavid J. Gue, on Rock Creek,
and the three drove over to Springdale to call om rriend Varney.
They talked about vohn Brown and his Springdale followers, of
whom the Coppoc brothers had receatly gone to join Brown at the
ferry. After the uwues and umith returned te Rock Creek, they
decided anonymously to warn the secretary of war, John B. rloyd,
of the impending affair. Smith wrote one letter, dat)ded at
rhiladelphia on August 18, whioh was sent to the pestmaster there
to be miled, and pavid uvue wrote the other, which was sent for
mailing to the postmester at Cincimnati. of the Smith letter
nothing was ever heard. ‘the other stated that its writer bhad
discovered the existence of a secret organisation to liberate
the slaves by a general insurrection. Its leader was old vohn
Brown, late of Kansas. they would pass down through rennsylvania
and maryland and enter virginia at Harpers rerry. ‘the writer said
that he dare not sign his name, but hoped his warning would not
be disregarded on that account. 3Secretary rleyd received this
letter, but failed to be stirred by 1t.7

On Sunday night, october 16, 1859, Brownis men proceeded
to the ferry. Of the twenty-two the Coppocs, Jeremiah u. Ander-

W----
Richmen, roway to iowa, 334-5.




son, ueorge B. will, ueorge W. moffatc, and Stowaft Taylor were
Iowans. On October 17 Sprlngnalo was horor-stricken by a tele~
graphic dispatch stating that a crasgsy, 0ld man and some twenty
followers had seized the united States Arsenal at Harpers Ferry
and were holding the Virginia chiwvalry and united States marines
at bay. At the close of the 18th Brcin and four of his men were
prisoners of Virginia, namely, ¥dwin Coppoc, Aaron ve. Stevens,
and two negroes, Copeland and ureem. On Uecember 2 Brown was
hanged, the execution being witnessed by Robert x. Lee, Stone~
wall sacxson, and yohn Wilkes Booth. iwo weeks later the other
four suffered the same fate. Among those who escaped was Barclay
Coppoc, who arrived in Springdale on Lecember 17, “worn almost te
a skeleton by starvation and exposure.”

When the Civil war began Barclay Coppoc went to Kansas and
on July 24, lu6l, was commissioned a lieutenant in the shird
xansaes volunteer infantry. He returned to Springdale for recruits
and secured eleven men. While returning to kKansas, his life was
brought to a tragic close. As the train was crossing the rlatte
River near St. voseph, missouri, the bridgely which had been partly
burned by rebel guerrillas, gave way, precipitating the cars into
the river. Coppoc died the next daj. He was buried with military
honors in Pilot xnodb Cemetery, at lLeavenworth, nansas. In rip-
ton, ilowa, stands a monument bearing his name along with those of

Iowa :s other valiant horoea.8
r‘

Richman, loway to iowa, 335; ‘‘homes ‘reakle, Rendition Foiled, 431,
4333 ?‘M 9, pe 416,
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CONCLUSION

In 1846, when Iowa became a state, it had a population of
102,388, many of its early settlers having come from Virginia, the
Carolinas, Georgia, Kentucky, and Tennessee and grea ter numbers from

Missouri and I1linois. Already in the 1830%'s the Quakers were be-
ginning to form settlements in southesstern Iowa and during the
next decade they were followed hy groups of anti-slavery men from

New England, who formed little commni ties at various places from
Muscatine to Tabor and organized Congregational churches. Here and
there Wesleyan Methodists and Covenanters were to be found. Aboli-
tionists from Ohio and other states of the Mid-West immigrated inte
southern lowa, and if they came from the same neighborhood ﬁhey
usually settled on neighboring farms. |

The Quakers, Congregationalists, and other religious elements
named above, including, of course, those abolitionists whose reli-
glous connoctio.m we do not know, were the people who operated the
Underground Railroad. In the early 1830's slaves woere already being
run off through the tiers of lowe counties which were near to the
boundary of Missouri. As the agitation against slavery grew and new
settlements were formed in whieh there was a smaller or great propor-
tion of anti-slavery men, the nmumber of Underground stations and routol‘
rapidly increased to keep pace With the increasing traffic which came
across the border, chiefly from the northern counties of Missouri and
to a lesser extent fron the western counties up through Kansas and
the southeastern ocorner of Nebrasks into southwestern Iowa.

One of the important aspects of the agi tation against slavery in
that section was the struggle of the free-state men for Kansas during
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the early 1850's. The echoes of this struggle were heard throughout
Missouri and caused a restiveness among the slaves which resulted in
larger mmbers seeking freedom through flight and in a few abductlions
of slaves from Missouri by white men who went from Kansas for that
purpose. Already by the end of 1854 the slaveholders of Missourl
were losing their human chattels in such numbers that the Intelll-
gencer of Saint Louis stated that the eviE} had become immense and
wae "daily getting to be more aggravated." It was threatening to
aubvert the institution of slavery in Missouri entirely and unless
effectially checked would certainly do so. The newspaper went on to
say that there was no doubt that ten slaves were then being stolen
for every on; that had been spirited off befors the Douglass b11l.d
While the mgluv;s usually came singly or in small groups, large
bands were not unknown. For exemple, one Sunday morning in Mareh,
1859, a "drove" of seventy-five passed through Burlington on the
way tb Canada.z

It has been well sald that Missouri was "a slave-holding pen-
insula jutting up into a sea of free soil." This enabled the Under=-
ground Railroad to draw its traffic from three borders of the state.
Missourians were sggravated by "the spectre of a 'horde of negro-
stealing Abolitionists' permanently settled in Kansas with the avowed
purpose of strangling the 'pecullar institution' and were subjected
to heavy losses from that quarter." On the other side of Missouri
" the great interstate shipping along the Mississipri™ made it easy
for plucky slaves to get jobs as boat hands or to secret themselves
on board, with the aid of one or more of the ocrew, until they reached

a free port. The efforts of the General Assembly of Missouri from

1Quoted 1n the Independent of Jan. 18, 1855.
2Vemmont Journsl, Apr. 2 , 1856.
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1804 down to the Civil War to prevent the harboring of runaways or
to recover them proved unavailing. The Dally Evening Gaszette
(8aint Louis) of August 18, 1841, declared that recent events had
demons trated the fact that the employment of free negroes, mulattoces,
and slaves who hired their own time on board of steamboats on the
western waters was "a cause of serioug loss and danger to the slave
states and slave owners. Such colored people had the opportunity of
cons tant communication with slaves of Missouri, Kentucky, and other
Southern states and with the free negroes and abolitionists of I1li-~
nois, Indiana, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. This communication rendered
the slaves restless, induced them to run away, and furnished them
a means of escape. Negro hands on board the s teamboats could fre-
quently conceal runaway-negroes, without the captain's consent.

The construction of the Pacific Railroed rendered the people of
Wes torn Missouri apprehensive lest their slaves should escepe into
Kansas by that means. 1In fact, the inhabitants of Franklin complained,
in May, 1857, that their negroes absconded in that way, although a
law of 1855 attempted to makq‘mlroad offioiall who alded fugltives
liable for double the value of bthye escaped slave and for oommon law
action as '911.' ¥nile the na;po.porg of the day do not contein many
notices of escape by steam railroads, a few members of the House of
Representatives were willing to vote for a resolution of March 1,
1860, requiring the General Assembly to "vote for no bill kno'ingiy
granting state aid to milroads whose Board of Directors? ;u "
Posed of a majority of Black Republicans.">

oom-~

In 1857 two bills for amending the laws for patroling the borders

of Missouri received strong support in the General Assembly of that

state, but not enough to pass them. As they point to the efforts made

to prevent the escape of slaves, they should be Summariged. A special

*H. L Trexler, Slavery in liuogu,ﬁ’1804-1865, PP. 173-8.
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tax was to be levied on the slave property of Missouri to maintain
patrdols along the Kansas, Iowa, and Illinois borders. The patrols
were to examine all ferries and other river craft, cut loose unli-
sensed boats, and note.any that were not chained and lookéd. Owners
of such boats were to be fined $1,000 each. It is clear that the
authors of these bills considered p.nlocked boats available for fugl-
tives looking for means to cross the rivers to free soil, that they
regarded owners of unlicensed boats as irresponsible and suspicious
characters, and that they provided for the inspection of ferries and
other river craft with a view to discovering stowaways t:ht;r'eon.4

In 1857 also the Missourl representatives in Congress were in-
structed by a joint resoltuion of the two houses of the General As-~
sembly to demand of the Federal Govermment security of their slave
- property as parﬁnteod by the Constitution. The Joint resolution
also protested against the Underground activities of certain citizems
of Chicago and their obstruction and mistreatment of Missourians who
went there to search for their runaways. It is said that Pnilo Capr~
penter, of Ohicago, assisted two hundred slaves from Missouri to get
to Canada, and that Dr. Doy and the Rev. John E. Stewart shipped a
hundred of an average value of 31,50@ for each of whom a reward of
#200 had been offered.’

The last barriers to escape into Kansas, Iowa, and probably
Il1linois began to orumble when the Civil War began. According to
the United States census, there were 114,951 slaves in Missouri in
1860. Of these only 73,811 remained in the state three years later.

4Ho A, TPQX].OI‘, OD. Qito, 206.
SInia. |
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Thus more than 41,000 slaves disappeared from Missouri during that
psriod, many of them onliafing in the Union Army. In the winter and
spring of 1865 lhves irere still fleeing from Missouri into Kansas.
An item in the Annals of Platte County for February 1 of that year

tells of many of them crossing the froszen river and enlisting.

Another item of April 1 speaks of their escaping daily, being en-

ticed away by Union soldiers .6

Other slaves passed through Iowa over ths Underground Railrocad
by wagon loads of fifteen or more during the early years of the war,
and some of them found employment on farms or settled temporarily
in towns where the antl-slavery sentiment was strong.7

George W. 3. Incas, who tells of having been in Kansas with
John Brown from 1865 until late in 1857, says that Brown and his mea
liberated five hundred and sixty slaves at Humboldt, Allen County, 7.
Kansas, in the rich valley of Keosho River, who went down to Olu§go,
Labette County. Mr. lucas was a colored man, who lived at Salem,
qumbiana County, Ohio, after hls return from Kansas and coopsrated
with several white men in alding escaping slaves .8

SH. A. Tl'exler’ OPp. QE.’ 206.
"8 ee ante, Pp.

8w, H. 3iebert's interview with G. W. S. Iucas.



AFPPENDIX A

Operators of the U

In lowa

Fremont County

At Civil Bend (Percival)

Avery, Epbert
Blanchard, Dr. Ira
Bottsford, Rev. Mr.
Hall, J. B.
Horton H, B_o
lane, William
Pl‘tt, E. 8.
Platt, L.

Platt" Rev. ¥, F,
Williams, K.
Williams, 8.

At Tabor

Adams , S. He
Case, Cephas
Clark, W. L.
Gminy, He 30
Cummings , Deacon 0.
Gas ton, George B.
Gas ton, James K.
H‘lm’ J.
Henry, Irish
Bunter G.

Lada, Dr.
Pearse, K.
SQOtt' Rev. J.
Smith, J. L.
Sheldon, Edward
Todd, Rev. John
'be, Lo >Eo
Woodford, N.
H111, Rev. E. S.
H111, L. B,
Jones , Jonas

On Silver Creek

Bradshaw (Bradburgh),
Nashe,
"Tolles, C. W.
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nd iros

Mills County
At Emerson

Coe, J. N,
Gridley, Amos -
mtchoock’ Rov. G.
Lewis,

¥Mills, Oliver

Norse,

Montgomer un
’Iorﬂ tt » ‘ [ J w.

Adams County
At Nevinville

Chamberlain, Deacon
Moore, 3.

Mahaska County
At Fremont

Hockett’ I .
McCormick, William
Montgomery, William

okuk Count

In the Richland Region
Mills, M.
Mitchell, T.
Morgan, H.

At Hedrick

Durfrees,




Washington Gounty
At Crawfordsville

Rankﬁnz‘, Colonel S.
At Washington

Kilgore, J.

Kilgore, M.

sa n

At Columbus City

Baily, Colonel

Guthrie County
At Stuart sand The

Ruaker Divide

Cook, Anna
COOk, H.
Cook, J.
Cook, M.
Lewis , Alv
Murray,

Polk County
At Des Xoines

Brandt, Isaac
Davis, Joel P.
Jorden, J.
Teesdale, J.
Robinson, Rev. D.

Poweshigk County
At Grinnell

Baily,

‘Bixby, X,

Brande, Elder T.
Bliss, Harry

Cooper, colonel S, F.
Grinnell, Josiah B.

-y .
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Poweshiek County (cont.)
At Grinnel (eont.)

Hamlin, H,
Harris,
Parker, L. F.
Parks, Phile

Johnson Oog‘ nty

At Iowa City

Bowen, Jesse
Clarke, William ?M

Codar County
At West Branch

Townshend, James
At Springdale

G111, Dr. H. 8.
Hmlphrey, A,
l”scn T. 'o
lmon, William
Tatum, Leurie
Yarney, d».
Varpey; Mrs.

At Tipton

Ma rd, Dr. J.
Wolfr, William P,

Clinton COungx
At De Wi tt

Burdette, Captain
Graham, Judge
Stillman, Mrs. J. Fe
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Clinton County (cont.) Henry County
At Low Moor ‘ At Mt. Pleasant
@lesson, Abel Howe, S. I.
Jones, J. B.
Mix, Clarente At Salem
0lin, N.
Palmer, B. R. Comer, J.
Weston, G. W. Dorland, J.
Frazier, E.
At Clinton Frazier, T. C.
Garretson, J.
Bather, A. Henderson, D. ¥.
Bather, J. P. : Hoag, J.
Brindell, G. W. Hobson, P.
Cambell, O, B. Jessup, Eli
Leslie, H. Johnson, William
S tanley, H. P. Lewelling, H.
Savage, T. P{ckering, J.
Star, W.B. Shriner, Br. T.
Way, Paul
_ Garrison family
Muscatine County Mendenhall family
At Muscatine Dos M
8 Moines County
LOO, JO BO
Van Pelt, Dr. At Kossuth
Helzer, F.
Wapsllo County McClure, J.
At Kirkville At Burlington
English, Alpha James , Dr. Edward
Jefferson County Appancose County
At Fairfield At Cineinnatl
Hyrkit, C. MPulcher, Jf.
Stalker, A. Hedgecoock, William
Martin, W.

Robertson, M.
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Appanoose County (cont.) Leg County (cent.)
Others in the County Others in the County

Adsmson family Bond, N..

Clavert family Corey, B.

Gilbert, J. Holbrake, J.

Green, 5. Kellum, N,

Holbrook, L. Leggens, D.

MecDonald, D.

Root’ GO

Stanton, N. County, etc., unknown

S tanton, 3.

'I\ldike!, Je. Painter’ J. H,

Priee, J.

Randall, R. H.
Davis County

At Drakesville

Amtmng, Jdo He Bs
c°1mr’ Al
Conner, W. E,
Gornel‘, A,
Elliott, G.
Elliott, J.
Elliott, G., Jr.
Ha.rdy’ D.

Hardy, d. :
Klinger, William
Paggett, H.
Truitt, Ab
Wonn, Horatio

Lee County
At Dsmmark

Adamson, H.
Brown,
Fox,
James’, P.

Shedd, Dr. G.
Turner, Rev. Asa
Tﬂmel‘. mO
Trowbridge, S. C.
Trowbridge, T.




104

APPENDIX B.

I. Communigations between Iowa agents of the U. G. R. R.

(a) From Josiah B. Grinnell to William Clarke, Aug. 15, 1860.
Tomorrow or next day there will be a company of 20 odd
persons well armed passing on to Springdale.
If they are to be troubled I trust they may have a falr
warning." (In the Correspondence of William Penn Clarke, Alrich
Collaction. Quoted by Erik Eriksson in "William Penn
Clarke", Iowa Journal of History and Politics, XXV, 44.)

(b) Received by Josiah Grinnell.

"Dear Grinnell: Uncle Tom says 1f the roads are not too
bad you can look for those fleeces of wool by to-morrow. Send
them on to test the market-price, and no back charges.

Yours, Hub".

(Grinnell, Josiah B., Men and Events of Forty Years,‘217.)

() G. B. Weston, Low Moor, to C. B. Campbell, Clinton,

Low Moor, May 6, 1859.
"Mr. C. B. C.:

Dear Sir-By tomorrow evening's mail, you will re-
ceive two volumes of thé "Irrepressible Conflict," bound in
black, After perusal, please forward, and oblige'

cC. W. w."
(Quoted by Jacobin Van Eck, "The Underground Railroad in
in Iowa", Palimpsest, II, 135.)
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IT. Advertisement for fugitive slave, a ppearing in

the Keokuk Argus.

"Run away on Sunday the thirty first of May 1846 from the
subseriber, 1living in Waterloo, Clark Co., Mo., a negro woman
named Luey 2bout 36 years old, very stout and heavy made, very
black, very large feet and hands, had on when she left a blue cal-
ico dress and a sunbonnet, no other clothing. It 1s believed that
ghe will be conducted to the territory of Iowa in the direction
of Keosaqua or beyond that vlace to a settlement of free negroes,
that was set free by Meirs living in Tully, Lewis County, Missourl
some years ago. Any verson apprehending sald slave and returning
her to me, or securing her so that I can get her again I will pay
a liberal reward and pay all reasohable expenses. @Glve information
to Daniel Hines, Keokuk, or Jamea T. Death, Farmington, Iowa.

: John T. Deadman
(Richman, Ioway to Iowa, 330.)

APPENDIX C.

III. John Brown Documents.

(1) Letter from John Brown to New York Tribune, January, 1859.

"......0n Sunday, Dec. 19, a negro man called Jim came over

to the Osage settlement, from Missouri, and stated that he, to-
gether with his wife, two chlldren, and another negro man was to be
8014 within a day or two, and begged for help to get away. On
Monday (the following) night, two small companies were made up to
go to Migsouri énd-forcibly liberate the five slaves, together with
other slaves. One of these companles I assumed to direct. We pro-
sesded to the place, surrounded the buildings, liberated the slaves,
and also took certaln property supposed to belong to the estate.

We, however, learned before leaving that a portion of the artlcles
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we had taken belonged to a man living on the plantation as a
tenant, and who was supposed to have no interest in the estate.
We promptly returned to him all we had taken. We then went to
another plantation, where we found five more sglaves, took some
property and two white men. We moved all slowly away into the
territory for some distance, and then sent the white men back,
telling them to follow us as soon as they chose to do so. The
other company freed one female slave, took some property, and as

I am informed, killed one white man (the master) who fought a-

gainst the liberation....." (Banborn, F. B., Life and Letters
df John Brown, 182.)

(2) Tabor resolution of February 7, 1859.

Resolved, that while we sympathize with the oppressed, and
will do all that we consclentiously can to help them in their
efforts for freedom, nevertheless we have no sympathy with those
who go to a slave State to entice away slaves and take property
or 1life when necessary to attain that end.

J. 8. Smith, Sec. (Ban-
born, op. cit., 488n.)

(3) Reception of Brown and Party at Grinnell, Iowa, GCompared

with Proceedings at Tabor (by John Brown.)

Springdale, Iowa, Feb. 25, 1883
1559
1. Whole party and teams kept for two days free of cost.
2. Sundry articles of clothing given to the captives.

3. Bread, meat, cakes, pies, etc., prepared for our journey.
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4., Full houses for two nights in succession, at which meeting
Brown and Kagl 8poke, and were loudly cheered and fully en-
dorsed. Three Congregational Clergymen attended the meeting
on Sabbath evening (notice of which was given out from the
pulpit). All of them took part in justifying our courts and
in urging contributions in our behalf. There was no dis-
gsenting speaker vresent at either meeting. Mr. Grinnell
spoke at length} and has since labored to procure us a free
and safe conveyance to Chicago, and effect it.

5. GContributions in cash amounting to $26.50.

6. Last, but least, public thanksgiving to Almighty God
offered up by Mr. Grinnell in the behalf of the whole com-
pany for Hls great mercy and protecting care, with prayers
for a continuance of these blessings.

As the actlion of Tabor friends has been published in
the newspapers by some of her people (as I supvome), would
not friend Gaston or some other friend give publicity to all
the above?

Respectfully your friend,
John Brown.
P. S. Our reception among the Quaker friends here has been

most Cordial.
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APPENDIX D.
An Iowa Fugitive Slave Case--1850.
Reported by George Frazee.
A Brief (From the Annals of Iowa, Vol. VI, 1903-05.)

District Court of the Unlted States. Southern Division of
Iowa. Burlington, Iowa, June Term, 1850. Hon. D. D. Dyer.
Ruel Daggs, plaintiff vs. Elilhu Frazler, Et Al, defendants.
Trespass on the case.

D. Rorer, Esq., Counsel for the plaintiff. J. C. Hall and

J. T. Morton, Esqs., for defendants.

This was an action of trespass in the case, instituted in
September, 1848, by Ruel Daggs, of Clark County, Mo., plain-
tiff, against Ellhu Frazler, Thomas Clarkson rrazier, John
Comer, Paul way, John Pickering, Wm. Johnson and others of
Henry County, Iowa, defendants, for the purpose of recovering
compensation for the services of nine slaves who escaped 1into
Iowa from Missouri, and were afterwards assisted to elude the
control and custody of plaintiff's agents, by the defendants
or some of them.

The declaration contained six counts. <1he first two allege
that the slaves were rescued from the plalntiff, or his agents.
The third and fourth, that they were harbored and concealed, so
that they afterwards escaped from and were entirely lost to the
plaintiff; and the fifth and sixth, that the plaintiff was hinder-
ed and prevented from recovering his slaves by the acts of defend-
ants; and the amount of damages, claimed was $10,000. Plea,

Not Guilty.

The sult had been continued from term to term, for causes
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shown, and at this term, after a motion by defendants' counsel
to exclude all the plaintiff's depositions for irregularity, had
been sustained by the Gourt, plaintiff flled hils affidavit, and
moved the Court for a continuance. The motlon was opposed by
Mr. Hall, and after arguments was overruled.

Plaintiff then entered a Nolle Prosequl as to several of

thé defendants and immdiately subpoenaed them as witnésses to
supply as far as they were able the want of evlidence occasioned
by the exclusion of his depositions.

A Jury was then lmpannelled and sworn,vthe declaration
read, and the witnesses for plaintiff introduced. The follow-
ing 1s the substance of

The Evidence

By George Daggs, son of Ruel Daggs. The latter has re-
sided in Clark County, Mo., for the last 12 to 14 years and
has been and still is the owner of gslaves. About June 2, 1848,
nine of them made thelr escape--men, women and children. The
men worth $900 or $1000 each, the three women $600 or $700 each,
a girl #250 or $300, a small boy $200, two other children not
estimated. The services of the men valued at about $100 a year;
of the women $45 or §$50; the girl's, her victuals and clothes.
One of the women, a glirl of 18 and the two children returned
after a week's absence.

Cross examination by Mr. Hall...Lives 15 miles distant..
Did not see the negroes escape and was not there at the tlme.
Immediately went in search for them. . . . Rorer, for plaintiff,
gave no notice that he should contend that the possession in

Missourl and finding ln Iowa was evidence of an escape.
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Albert Button sworn. In June, 1848, resided in Salem,
Henry County, Iowa. In early part of that month saw a negro
man and boy there. There was a crowd at the stone house whic¢h
afﬁerwards went to the Friends' meeting house. The negroes
went along--and he went also. . . The claimants were requlred
to prove the existence of slavery in Missourl and that the ne-
groes were slaVés, by the justice and himself. Sald they had
no evidence there, but were told they might have time to pro-
cure it. The agents admitted they were not legally agents.
Button heard how the negroes got away from Salem. Didn't know
who brought them there. . . Street acted as counsel for the
negroes. « s« .

Jonathan Pickering sworn. Resides about one and a half miles
. from Salem. Has never seen the.blacks. Has heard whose wagon
went to Des Molnes River for the negroes. Don't know how the
negroes got to Salem, or where fhey stayed the night before. . . .
Heard John Pickering 'say there were men from Missouri in the
. Vicinity looking for negroes, . . John Comer had told Jonathan
- Plckering they (the negroes) were not in the county, and that
he did not asslist in thelr escape. Jesse Cook had deniéd having
anything to do with the matter. . . . | o

Samuel Slaughter sworn. Saw Wm. Daggs, the soh of Ruel
‘ Déggg, on Saturday and was requested to assisted him and McClure
in finding some slaves he was looking for. They had been traced
to the Des Moines River, near Farmington. On the way tovSalem
next morning, notice a fresh wagon track, and followed it for
several mlles and came in sight of'the wagon. . . It was driven

very fast and had a top on 1t. It stopped 1n the bushes about
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half a mile from Salem. He found three young men in the wagon
and rode into town with them. Next morning he and others went to
the place where he had overtaken the wagon and nearby found a
black man, a yellow man, three women and four éhildren. Took pos-
" session of them. Left McClure with the negroes, and went into
Salem for Mr. Brown and Mr. Cook. Found Elihu Frazler, Clarkson
Frazier, Wm. Johnson and other men, who objected to taking the
negroes. One of the Frazlers sald the clalmants must‘ prove they
were slaves.  One of the objectors sald he would wade 1n Missouri
blood before the negroes should be taken. . . . Glarkson Frazier
saild he would not allow Slaughter to take the negroes. The crowd
éeemed to act unitedly, and understood Slaughter could not take
the negroes unless he went before the maglstrate. . . . The justice
refused to take cognlizance of the case, sald the negroes were not
properly before him. . . Slaughter gave up_the matter because he
did not wish to embroil himself and was tired of the business. . . .

Horace B. Hunting sworn. Was 1in Salem on a Monday in June,
1848. Saw a black man and child there near the stone house.
There was a crowd present and (he) understood the negroes were
to be tried before a justice. . . . Saw John Pickering at the
west-end of the meeting house after the trial talking to a negro. .
« . The négro walked a short distance; Gllcherson handed him the
child, and the negro started off with him along. . . . Immedlately
after, saw Paul Way riding in advance of the negro. . . .

The meetling hduse 18 called the Abolition or Anti-Slavery

meeting house. It 1s used for public washlip. . . .
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J. B. Rose sworn. . . . Gibbs (the justice of the neace)
had been asked to discharge the negroes and declare them
free. He had said he had no jurisdiction and they were free
ags he himself for all he knew. The crowd began to run out. . .
Saw no violence, 2nd heard no threats. . . . Saw the negro
go out 2nd go to the horse. . . . Gilcherson unhitched him. . .
and 1lifted up the child. Was not near eough to hear what wasg
said.

Mr. Dorland sworn. . . .

Francis Frrvzier sworn. Lived south of Salem in June, 1848.
First saw the nerroes at the south-wegt corner of the graveyard,
one-fourth of a2 mile from Salem, standing in the road. . . .

It  appeared to be by consent or the partles that they went up
to the stone house. . . .

Lewis Taylor sworn. . . . .

F. A. McElroy sworn. . . « .

Jonathan Frazier sworn. Was overtaken by Slaughter in
the wagon; two men, Hamllton and ----- were with him. No ne-
groes were in the wagon. Was about two miles from Salem. . . .
Had been to Farmington. Drove down with the game men. « . &
Cant's say what their business was.

e« « « o o Mr. Rorer ovened the argument on the part of
the plaintiff and was followed by Mr. Morton for the defendant.
They occupled the whole afternoon. The concluding argument én
the part of the defendants was then made by Mr. Hall. . . .

Speech of Mr. Hall.
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Jurors--This suilt and this trilal possess an 1ﬁterest which
has rarely occurred in the judicial history of our young State.
It is truly novel--the first sult of the kind ever brought
west of our mighty river.

The Court, too, i1s novel. It is not a Court that derivea
its powers from this State, but the United States; and the sub-
ject matter sued for--the right demanded by the plaintiff--
the wrong complained of agalnst the defendants, 1s based alone
upon an act of Congress and the Constitution of the United
States.

The Federal Constitution has recognized the institution
of Slavery and provided for the return of persons held to la-
bor when they shall escape from the State where they are so
held, to another State. The Act of Congress has made it pe-
nal 1n~any person to hinder or prevent the owner, his agent
or attorney, 1ln arresting such fugitives, or to rescue them
from the owner, his agent or attorney, or to conceal and har-
bor such fuglitives.

« « « Negroes are property -‘and slaves in Missourl be-
cause the.lawa of that State positively declare and recognize
them as such. In Iowa slavery 1is prohiblted by the
Constitution. . . .

This being the case, Mlssourl, as a State, feels an in-
terest, . . ., to have this specles of property protected,
and the right to the recapture and return of thelr slaves
when they escape to another State, without interruption or

hindrance.
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In this case the plaintiff must establish by evidence
and you, Jjurors, must find,
1st. Thatvthe plaintiff resided in the State o Milassourl
and owned the negroes deseribed in his declaration.
2nd. That those negores, being his slaves, escaped,
without his consent, came to the State of Iowa, and into Henry
County.
3rd. That the plaintiff, by himself, hlis agents or
attorneys, pursued sald slaves into the State of Iowa.
4th. That the defendants, having notice that said ne-
groes were slaves and fugitives from labor, hindered and pre-
vented the plaintiff, his agents or attorneys; er that they
rescued sald slaves from sald plaintiff, his agents or attorneys,
after they had captured them.
A review of the evidence,given in thls case, will, I think,

satisfy you that these facts have not been proved.

Mr. Hall admitted as established that the plaintiff re-
sides in Mlssourl and is the owner of the slaves; but he saild
it was not proved that these glaves escaped from his custody,
without hls consent and came to Iowa. The only witness to this
point is the plaintiff's son, who swears that he was at his
father's about May 1, 1848, and saw these slaves, . . . . an
that about June 3rd or 4th following, he was there again and
these slaves were missing. He has no personal knowledge of
where they were, when they left, or how they came to be absent.
That a few days afterwards several of them were returned, but

how he does not know. Some of them he has never since seen. .
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I now come to the third question. Did the plaintiff
by himself, his agent or attorney, pursuevsaid slaves into
the State of Iowa? It is not pretended that the plaintiff,
personally, ever followed them, and there 1s not a word of evi-
dence that he ever had an agent or attorney, in relation to
these slaves; o« o e

+* *’b' #* i* »*

Now, if these slaves were not pursued by the plaintiff,
his agents or attorney, there could be no reacue. . . . . .

The first act that Daggs ever 4id was to bring this sult,
and he has scarcely followed this up with a scintilla of
e&idence. e ¢ o o o

The fourth question is, Did the defendants, after having
notice that said negroes were slaves, do any of the acts for-
bidden to be done by.the Act of Congress? It is true that
about the 5th of June, 1848, séveral negroes were found near
Salem in Henry County. They were by themselves in the woods,
a mile or more from Balem. No white persons were with them.
Mr. Slaughter and Mr. McClure found them. But weretthey the
plaintiff's slaves? They suspected but did not know, or pre-
tend to knowe « . « . . |

There is no syllable of evidence to show that any one of
these defendants ever moved a finger, saild a word, or, in the
remotest manner, interfered, up to the time the arrest was
made. . . The evidence shows that the negroes were selzed about
a half mile from the road. When they were brought to the road,

the defendants, Thomas and Elihu Frazier, came up. . . and in-
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gisted that &t should be taken before a Justice of the Pesce,
and identified, and the vnower of McClure and Slaughter shown.
One of the Fraziers sald thet he was willing that they should
take them even i1f they did not make the requisite proof.

This conversation induced Slaughter and McClure to take
the negroes before a Justice of th> Peace, and they proceeded
to Salem. On the road a considerable crowd had collecﬁed. No
violence was used or threatened, only on one occasion when
Slaughter had hold of the yellow man's arm, a man called Johnson
pulled him away, and told him to knock down Slaughter if he
took hold of him again, and he should be protected. Before they
got to Salem, one 0ld woman and child got tired and were 1left. .
Before they got to the town the yellow fellow left them. . .
Thus they proceeded with the old black man and child, till they
came to the town, at the stone house. Here there was a tem-
porary stop. Much confusion and excitement prevailed. (They
went on.) and, finding the Justice's office too small, it was
agreed to go to the Abolition Meeting House. Hither.....they
proceeded. The persons claiming the negroes could not prove
their agency or authority; or identify the negroes. They as-
certain that they were not agents and gave the matter up. The
negroes went out of the house. . . .When the negro had turned
the corner he had some conversation with several persons, and,
amongst others, with the defendant, John Pickering. The ne-

gro very soon went to the fence, unhitched a horse, mounted
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and his child was handed to him by Gilcherson, then he made
off, starting upon a gallop. A short time before the negro
started, Paul Way was seen on his horse and started up the |
road, the negro being eighty or one hundred feet behind him...
This constitutes the evidence of the Rescue. No man 1lifted

a finger. . . no man prevented the claimants from holding to

the negroes. « . « «

#* * #* £ *
cessesas coeseses My clients ask but fair and impartial
Justice. « ¢« ¢ ¢« ¢« o &
goncluding Argument by Mr. Rorer.

Gentlemen of the jury--- . . . This 18, a8 the opposite
counsel have sald, an important trial. . .

. . .kA reward was offered for the returning of the negroes.
Will not this sustain the 1dea of McClure and Slaughter bel ng
agents?. . .

« « « I gave 1t (the Abolition Meeting House.)

its usual and well known appeallation---. . . Here are men
who have establlished a law of thelr own. . . They affirm
that they may aid in the escape of peraons held to service
under the Constitution of other States, though by so doing
they violate the laws of the Union. If you find fugitives
from service secreted among such a people (you infer) that
they ailded and assisted in their escape.......

Mr. Rorer compared the Abolition Meeting House to a
place which shall be nameless when the house was desecrated
by the intrusion of abolition sentiments "when converted into
the Commlttee Room of the under-ground rallroad company,

when thelr schemes of robbery and wrong were dellberately
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concooted.”" . . . .
#* o#Q » * #

. . . We owned them (the slaves) in Missouri. The
escape is proved by finding them in Iowa. . . These blacks
were strange negroes, and were skulking in the bushes and en-
deavoring to conceal themselves, and 414 not deny the owner-
ship when clalmed. . . They are clalmed by Slaughter as tle
slaves of Daggs. and. with McClure, he takes possession of
them. He goes to Salem and procures two men to assist him
in returning them to Missouri. . . . When he returns to the
vicinity of the spot where he first dlascovered them, the
citizens of Salem were already there. . . Some of the ne-
groes were wllling to return with Slaughter; the yellow man
reslsted. . . . . The defendants were excited--angry. One
sald the negroes should not be taken away 1n any event.
Another, that they must be proven to be slaves before a mag-
lstrate, and Johnson told the mulatto that if Slaughter
touched him again to knock him down. These men were all in
company, &alding, supporting and encouraging each other. . .
Still we are told no violence was used. . « . wWe learn that
John Comer, one of the defendants, told one of the witnesses
that there were run-away negroes in the neighborhoode-that
certaln persons were there in search of such negroes and
"he sniggered in his sleeve and seemed to know where they
were." They were found concealed in the bushes near Salem,
and almost at the moment of their disoover&, the Ffaziers and
their assoclates were found upon the spot, acting in such a

manner as to deter the agents of the plaintiff from assert-

ing their undoubted right to convey them back to Missouri, . .
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They go toward Salem, the crowd increasing until they ar-

rive at the Stone House. . . . . They then go to the justice's
office; the crowd stlll increasing, the office is too small

to hold them and they proceed to the Abolition Meetling House==-.
« «» There were two partles---one wished the negroes to go free
the other wished them to return to Missouri. . . .

o o o The negroes escape on Friday night. On Sunday morn-
ing the wagon goes to Salem under most mysterlious circumstances.
On Monday morming the negroes are found in the vielnity, con-
cealed in the very bushes in which the wagon had stopped. The
agents are forced into Salem against their willl, when they
might have taken the negroes off. . « &

e « « The first two counts are for a rescue--the next
two for harboring and concealing so that we lose the negroes,
and the last two for hindering and ovreventing us from regain-
ing possesslion of them.

The value of the negroes must fix the amount of damage
sustained by the plaintiff. . . .

« » . « Upon the conclusion of Mr. Rorrer's argument,
(Judge) J. T. Dyer'delivered to the Jury the following:

Charge (not copiled).

The Jury retired and after an absence of between me
and two house, brought 1ln a verdict finding the defendants,
Elihu Frazier, Thomas Clarkson Frazier,.John Comer, Paul Way,
John Pickering snd Wm. Johnson guilty upon the 1st, 24, 3d, and
4th counts of the declaration and assessed the damage at $2900.
As to the rest of the defendants the verdict wae Not Guilty.
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Defendants' counsel moved the Court to grant a new trial
on the following grounds:
1st. Because the jury was improperly impanneled in
violation of the statute of Iowa, . . and thls fact was unknown
to the defendants and their counsel, until after the rendition
of the verdict.
2nd. Because the verdlet was agalnst the evidence
ag to some of the defendants, and upon no evldence as to others.
The motion was argued at considerable length. . . .

after which the plaintiff entered a nolle prosegul as to Wm.

Johnson; whereupon the Court decided that although the ver-
dict was bad upon the 1lst, 24 and 3fd counts, 1t was good upon
the 4th, the motion was therefore overruled, a new trial de-
nled, and Judgment entered upon the verdict.

Defendants then asked time to file their bill of excep-
tions, for the purpose of takling the case to the Supreme
Court, by writ of error, which, no objectlion being made, was

granted.
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